
 

Agenda - Public Accounts Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 4 December 2017 

Meeting time: 14.45

For further information contact: 

Fay Bowen 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPAC@assembly.wales
------ 

(The Committee agreed on 27 November 2017, a motion under 

Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public from Item 1 of 

this meeting)  

 

1 The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales 

project: Correspondence with the Welsh Government 

(14.45 - 15.15) (Pages 1 - 45)  

PAC(5)-31-17 Paper 1 – Letter from the Chair to the Welsh Government (20 

October 2017) 

PAC(5)-31-17 Paper 2 – Letter from the Welsh Government (17 November 

2017) 

PAC(5)-31-17 Paper 3 – Previous correspondence considered at the meeting 

on 2 October 2017 

 

(Private pre-meeting 15.15 - 15.30)  

 

2 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(15.30)   

3 Paper(s) to note 

(15.30 - 15.35) (Pages 46 - 48)  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition: Evidence Session with the 

Welsh Government 

(15.35 - 16.30) (Pages 49 - 64)  

Research Briefing 

PAC(5)-31-17 Paper 4 – Update from the Welsh Government 

 

Dr Andrew Goodall - Director General/NHS Chief Executive 

Frances Duffy - Director, Primary Care & Innovation, Welsh Government 

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: 

(16.30)   

Item 7  

6 Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition: Consideration of evidence 

received 

(16.30 - 16.45)   



 

 

James Price 

Deputy Permanent Secretary 

Economy, Skills & Natural Resources Group 

Welsh Government 

Cathays Park 

Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ 

 

 

 

20 October 2017 

Circuit of Wales project 

Dear James, 

Thank you for attending the Public Accounts Committee on 2 October for your 

valedictory session ahead of taking up your new role in Transport for Wales. 

During the session Members explored with you a number of issues relating to the 

Circuit of Wales project. The Committee has a number of outstanding concerns 

about the classification of the project as on or off balance sheet, and have asked 

me to write with further points which need clarification. 

The Committee was concerned about the potential Office of National Statistics / 

Her Majesty Treasury classification of the project as ‘on-balance sheet’ for the 

Welsh Government, if the Cabinet had agreed to the underwriting proposal.  We 

are trying to understand more about the balance of public versus private risk that 

existed for the project, and the extent of any Welsh Government dialogue with the 

company on this prior to the Cabinet decision. For ease of reference, I have 

included what I understand to be the publically available background to this 

decision. 

  

                                        Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus l Public Accounts Committee 
                                        PAC(5)-31-17 P1

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

On 13 July 2016, the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure stated in 

Plenary that: 

 

‘Including both direct Welsh Government guarantees and local authority loans, 

the latest proposal put forward by the Circuit of Wales asks Welsh Government 

to underwrite around 75 per cent of the total £370 million cost of the project, 

with local authorities underwriting a further 8 per cent. Unfortunately, despite 

the efforts of the project backers, this leaves only around 17 per cent of risk 

being taken by the private sector. 

‘That amount of risk falling on the Welsh taxpayer, through Welsh Government 

and local authority support, is unacceptable as it currently stands, especially at 

a time when we are facing significant economic uncertainty from a UK exit 

from Europe. In our view, this project does not currently provide the level of 

value for money necessary for the amount of public funding being put at risk. 

On that basis, I have today told Michael Carrick and Martin Whitaker that I 

believe further work is needed on this proposal. My door remains firmly open 

and I’ve urged them to revise their bid in such a way where the private sector 

takes more of the risk in order for this project to be taken forward. 

‘We need to see at least 50 per cent of this project funded and 50 per cent of 

the risk underwritten by the private sector to justify value for money for Welsh 

Government and the public purse and they have accepted this principle. My 

officials will now work constructively with the Circuit of Wales team to ensure 

this project can be successfully delivered to benefit the local economy of Ebbw 

Vale and Wales at large.’ 

Following the Cabinet decision in June 2017 not to provide the requested £210 

million underwriting support for the project, the Cabinet Secretary for Economy 

and Infrastructure made the following statement in Plenary on 27 June 2017, 

which references the above statement: 

 

‘In July last year I told the company that I would expect to see at least 50 per 

cent of the project funded and 50 per cent of the financial risk of the project to 

be undertaken by the private sector, and for the project as a whole to provide 

value for money for Welsh Government and the public purse. 

‘In February the developers submitted a new proposal to Welsh Government, 

which was followed by a formal application in April, requesting a guarantee of 

Pack Page 2



 

a loan facility of £210 million. Extensive and detailed due diligence by external 

experts employed by Welsh Government has shown that due to the way that 

the deal is structured, the current proposal would see the Welsh Government 

exposed to more than 50 per cent of the risk. This is because the £210 million 

underwriting element would carry a higher risk than other parts of the financial 

package.’  

In response to that point, the Heads of the Valley Development Company have 

stated that:  

 

‘at no point during the due diligence process was the company told by the 

Welsh Government that this was an issue and that the Welsh government 

believed that it would be exposed to more than 50% of the risk.’1  

 

In his 27 June 2017 statement, the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and 

Infrastructure went on to say that: 

 

‘As a result, following discussions with Office for National Statistics and Her 

Majesty’s Treasury during the due diligence process, it is assessed that there is 

a very significant risk that the full £373 million debt of the entire Circuit of 

Wales project would be classified against Welsh Government capital spending.’ 

In response, the Heads of the Valley Development Company has stated that: 

 

 ‘the company was never informed or made aware of this ONS and HM Treasury 

advice during the due diligence process.  We were promised by Welsh 

Government officials that we would be consulted if any significant issues arose 

during due diligence and given an opportunity to respond.’2  

  

                                       

1 HoVDC press release, June 2017 

2 HoVDC press release, June 2017 

Pack Page 3



 

In light of these statements the Committee would welcome your response to the 

following questions: 

1. On what date did the Welsh Government first communicate to the Heads of the 

Valley Development Company its concern that the public sector was being 

asked to take on more than 50% of the project risk in providing the requested 

£210 million underwriting guarantee for the Circuit of Wales project? 

 

2. On what date did the Welsh Government first communicate to the Heads of the 

Valley Development Company the views of Welsh Treasury officials regarding 

the potential on-balance sheet treatment of the project within the Welsh 

Government’s accounts? 

 

3. What responses did the Welsh Government receive from the Heads of the Valley 

Development Company on both of these points in advance of the 27 June 2017 

Cabinet decision not to provide the requested £210 million guarantee? 

 

I would be grateful for a fully considered and comprehensive response to the 

questions as soon as possible, which should then negate the need for a further 

evidence session on this topic. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Nick Ramsay AM 

Chair 

Pack Page 4



 

Grwp yr Economi, Sgiliau a Chyfoeth Naturiol 
Economy, Skills and Natural Resources Group 
 
Dirprwy Ysgrifennydd Parhaol •  Deputy Permanent Secretary 
 

 

 

 

Canolfan QED ● QED Centre 

Y Brif Rodfa ● Main Avenue 
Trefforest ● Treforest 

Pontypridd, CF37 5YR 

 

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 6646 
james.price@gov.wales 

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
Nick Ramsay AM                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Chair, Public Accounts Committee                                                                             
National Assembly for Wales 
 
c/o committeebusiness@wales.gsi.gov.uk 
  

 
17 November 2017 

 
 
 
Dear Mr Ramsay 
 
I am writing in response to your letter of 20 October 2017 about the Circuit of Wales project, 
following my valedictory session with the Public Accounts Committee on 2 October 2017.  
The Committee has asked the following specific questions relating to the balance sheet 
treatment of the project and the balance of project risk:   
 

1. On what date did the Welsh Government first communicate to the Heads of the 
Valleys Development Company (HOVDC) its concern that the public sector was 
being asked to take on more than 50% of the project risk in providing the 
requested £210 million underwriting guarantee for the Circuit of Wales project? 

 
2. On what date did the Welsh Government first communicate to HOVDC the views 

of Welsh Treasury officials regarding the potential on-balance sheet treatment of 
the project within the Welsh Government’s accounts? 

 
3. What responses did the Welsh Government receive from HOVDC on both of 

these points in advance of the 27 June 2017 Cabinet decision not to provide the 
requested £210 million guarantee? 

 
Due to the inter-relationship between the questions and associated answers, I am providing 
a single, comprehensive response. 
 
As you indicated in your letter to me, the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 
stated in July 2016 that Welsh Government would need to see at least 50 per cent of the 
project risk undertaken by the private sector to take forward the project.  HOVDC accepted 
this principle at that time. 
 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus l Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-31-17 P2

Pack Page 5

mailto:james.price@gov.wales
www.wales.gov.uk
mailto:committeebusiness@wales.gsi.gov.uk


Separately, the issue of balance sheet classification had also been discussed between 
Welsh Government officials and representatives of HOVDC from as early as spring 2016, as 
the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure confirmed in his reply to WAQ74043.  
It was around this time that the local authorities that had been working alongside Welsh 
Government pulled back from the proposal and the support requested from Welsh 
Government changed.  The Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure provided 
some background to these changes in his letter of 4 August to Adam Price AM.  HOVDC 
accepted the project costs needed to be off balance sheet for Welsh Government, and 
indeed an assessment of balance sheet classification was made by EY in October 2016 in a 
report produced for HOVDC.  Whilst the EY report considered a funding structure for the 
project that was different to the proposal submitted in February 2017, and did not therefore 
inform Welsh Government’s assessment of balance sheet treatment, the fact that EY 
specifically addressed the issue confirms that HOVDC understood it was a critical point of 
consideration.   
 
Officials met with representatives of HOVDC on a regular basis particularly between 
October 2016 and June 2017.  The level of risk to the public sector and balance sheet 
treatment would have formed part of these discussions.  In terms of the proposal submitted 
by HOVDC in February 2017, the full extent of Welsh Government’s potential exposure only 
became apparent on receipt of the draft due diligence reports in May 2017 and after 
consultation with HM Treasury.  The Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 
made this point in his responses to WAQ73739 and WAQ73769. 
 
Draft copies of the due diligence reports or extracts thereof were shared with 
representatives of HOVDC in May and June 2017 for fact checking, including the main 
Grant Thornton due diligence report.  HOVDC provided detailed comments on the Grant 
Thornton report at that time to correct errors of fact and to highlight areas where they 
disagreed with Grant Thornton’s analysis.  Whilst HOVDC made no explicit comment on 
balance of risk, they challenged the way the assessment of potential financial liability to 
Welsh Government under the guarantee was being presented.  However, that was a matter 
of interpretation that Grant Thornton did not accept, and HOVDC nonetheless provided 
written confirmation of the factual accuracy of the report. 
 
The decision not to provide a Welsh Government guarantee was reached following careful 
consideration by Cabinet of the assessment of potential risks and benefits of the project.  
The outcome of the Cabinet discussion was not known by officials in advance and could not 
therefore have been communicated any sooner.  Hence Welsh Government’s final decision 
in respect of the proposed guarantee, including the level of project risk and balance sheet 
risk that it exposed the government to, was first communicated by officials to 
representatives of HOVDC following Cabinet’s decision on the morning of 27 June 2017.  A 
more detailed discussion subsequently took place between Welsh Government officials and 
representatives of HOVDC on 30 June 2017. 
 
Whilst Welsh Government’s final assessment of project risk and classification was not 
communicated to HOVDC in advance of the Cabinet discussion on 27 June 2017, the 
general principles were understood and accepted by HOVDC during 2016.  
 
Yours sincerely 

 
James Price Pack Page 6



James Price 

Deputy Permanent Secretary – Economy, Skills & 

Natural Resources Group 

Welsh Government 

Cathays Park 
Cardiff CF10 3NQ 

 

 

12 July 2017 

Dear Mr Price 

The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project 

Thank you for attending the Public Accounts Committee on 26 June 2017. 

Following the meeting, Members have asked that I write to you with some 

observations and seek further clarity on a number of points arising from the 

evidence. In responding to this letter, I would expect the views of the relevant 

officials, namely Mr McGuire and Mr Munday to be incorporated. The Committee 

hopes that this letter and your response will negate the need for an additional 

evidence session, although this will depend on the depth and completeness of the 

answers provided. 

For ease of reference, we have added footnotes to the transcript (RoP) and the 

Auditor General’s Report.  

Overall Value for Money 

One of the primary focuses of the Public Accounts Committee is to ensure that 

value for money is achieved when spending public funds.  We do not form views 

on the validity of policy decisions, but instead whether those investments have 

been made according to the processes and procedures in place to safeguard those 

with the responsibility for investing public money. We have a number of questions 

relating to the overall value for money for the initial funding of the project: 

                                           Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
                                            PAC(5)-31-17 P3

Pack Page 8



 

1. During the evidence session on 26 June 2017, you stated that:  

“I am persuaded that we have achieved value for money for what we 

have got, yes, which is a project that is ready, subject to finance, to 

be delivered. So, yes.” 1 

And that £9.3 million represented value for money regardless of whether 

the Project goes ahead.2 In light of the Welsh Government decision on 27 

June, the Committee would like to know whether you believe this statement 

remains valid, and your justification for this view. 

2. The Committee would welcome any evidence of value for money in relation 

to payments made to suppliers on the basis of monthly retainers. 

 

3. During the evidence session, you quoted the core assumptions of 1000 jobs 

from the circuit and 4000 from the subsequent development.3 In explaining 

the reason for not deciding to invest further in the Circuit of Wales the 

Minister stated that:  

‘…once the initial track and directly related development… had 

reached a steady state of trading around the year 2024, the 

number of direct full-time-equivalent (FTE) operational jobs 

would be little over 100. In addition, the circuit development 

could create around 500 indirect FTE jobs through potential 

visitor spend, as well as approximately 500 FTE construction 

jobs while the track was being built.’  

How do the figures quoted in the meeting reconcile with the figures quoted 

to support the Welsh Government decision not to fund the Project?   

 

The acquisition of FTR: 

The Committee has a number of concerns relating to the purchase of FTR as part 

of the Property Development Grant. There are a number of areas which the 

Committee would welcome further clarity on, and of particular concern is the lack 

                                       

1 RoP, paragraph 22 

2 RoP, paragraph 428 

3 RoP, paragraphs 24 – 41 

Pack Page 9



 

of appropriate documentation about the decision for this purchase to be included 

as part of the Property Development Grant: 

4. During the evidence session you stated that you considered the purchase of 

FTR represented value for money, do you still maintain that this is the case 

and if so, how does it represent value for money?  

 

5. You also referred to the significant amounts of scrutiny which were being 

applied to the PDG, we would like to know what specific scrutiny there was 

of the FTR item?4  

 

6. Despite your assurances at the meeting that the approval for purchasing 

FTR with PDG funds ‘..was considered in detail and thought through’5 and 

‘aligns with the project’6  the Committee is still unclear about how these 

conclusions were drawn. Therefore, please could you explain precisely: 

 

 - how the rationale for HoVDC to acquire FTR aligned with the 

purposes and the objectives of the PDG scheme? and; 

 

- how the rationale for HoVDC to acquire FTR fitted within the 

purposes of Phase 1 of the CoW Project? 

 

7. The Committee are unclear from your evidence and would welcome 

clarification on whether the inclusion of an item of £300,000 such as FTR, 

which the Auditor General stated does not align with a grant scheme’s core 

purposes, would be considered exceptional, and your reasons for such a 

decision. 

 

8. The PDG was backdated by almost three months (for reasons which the 

Welsh Government has not yet explained to the Committee) and the FTR 

transaction took place before the grant was awarded. Please can the Welsh 

Government confirm whether the Welsh Government reviewed the FTR 

                                       

4 RoP, paragraph 343  

5 RoP, paragraph 80 

6 RoP, paragraph 76 

Pack Page 10



 

sale/purchase contract before approving FTR’s inclusion the grant, and if 

not, why not? 

 

9. The Committee has particular concerns around the decision to purchase 

FTR potentially not being approved by the Minister. We would welcome a 

response on why there is no evidence of the approval of grant funding for 

the acquisition of FTR being brought to the Ministers attention? And under 

what circumstances do you think it is appropriate to bring or not bring such 

an item to the Minister’s attention?  

 

10.The Committee noted the comments from yourself and Ms Mayes about 

record keeping that ‘officials should keep detailed records of all meetings 

and conversations with funding applicants’7 and that ‘good practice would 

be the minimum level necessary to demonstrate why you did what you did’.8 

The Committee would like to know what justification there is for the 

officials not keeping records concerning the decision around FTR and why is 

there no contemporaneous documentation relating to FTR? 

 

Further questions in relation to oral evidence: 

The Committee has a number of follow up questions arising from the oral 

evidence you provided on 26 June 2017: 

11.During the evidence session, you stated that the HoVDC is the second time 

the Welsh Government has provided a loan guarantee.9 The Committee 

would welcome further information on the provision of loan guarantees by 

the Welsh Government. In particular: 

- what was the first guarantee referred to in evidence?  

- how was the guarantee secured?  

- was it called upon? If so, did the Welsh Government get the money 

back? 

                                       

7 RoP, paragraph 337 

8 RoP, paragraph 343  

9 RoP, paragraph 155 

Pack Page 11



 

- have any other guarantees been requested, declined or provided? 

 

12.The need for separation of duties in terms of officials involved in 

supporting funding bids from those responsible for payment authorisation 

is a fundamental control. The Committee received reassurances from 

yourself and Ms Mayes at the meeting that the processes exist within the 

Welsh Government.10 However, these assurances still seem at odds with the 

findings within the Auditor General’s report that on 11 January 2013 an 

official instructed his finance colleague to pay a grant claim, even though 

Welsh Government officials had not seen the relevant parts of the 

conditional sale contract.11 We would therefore welcome clarification on 

how this official’s instruction and its execution demonstrate the 

maintenance of an appropriate separation of duties.  

 

13.The Auditor General’s report identifies that PDG grant payments to HoVDC 

included reimbursing HoVDC for a deposit held in escrow, and this type of 

payment would not normally be considered eligible for grant because it 

represents settlement of a payment not yet defrayed.12 During the evidence 

session, Ms Mayes set out that in this instance the Welsh Government 

believed the Welsh Government was correct to pay to HoVDC the full 

amount claimed, however it is not clear why this conclusion was drawn.13 

While we accept that a deposit held in an escrow account is not unusual in 

conditional property sales transactions we also note that such amounts are 

not normally eligible expenditure - so please can you explain why in this 

case the Welsh Government considered this grant claim payment to be 

correct? 

 

14.In response to the Committee questions about why the HoVDC accounts 

were not audited, Ms Mayes stated that the company accounts were not 

                                       

10 RoP, paragraphs 272-280 

11AGW Report, paragraph 3.40  

12 AGW Report, paragraphs 3.38 – 3.40 

13 RoP, paragraph 317 

Pack Page 12



 

audited because the companies were not required to do so.14 We have some 

significant concerns about this because a requirement of the loan guarantee 

agreement was for HoVDC to provide audited financial statements to the 

Welsh Government.15 Therefore we would like clarification on why this 

condition to provide audited financial statements was imposed as part of 

the loan guarantee? And then why this condition was not enforced? 

 

15.The Committee questioned the decision not to inform WIDAB about the 

potential loan guarantee support when they were considering whether to 

support the £80 million repayable business finance application for this 

project. We would welcome clarification that, if the same circumstances 

arose, whether the Welsh Government would now tell WIDAB about the 

potential loan guarantee?16 

 

During the Committee meeting there was a significant discussion around the 

provision of risk free finance to HoVDC and whether this could breach State 

Aid rules, which the Committee have a number of questions arising from this:   

16.The Committee were particularly concerned about the findings in the 

Auditor General’s report that the Welsh Government’s own officials advised 

that ‘providing the loan guarantee in addition to the RBF might be 

problematic in relation to state aid’ and that they were ‘…unable to offer 

any reassurance to Ministers that the proposals would stand up to either 

judicial scrutiny or analysis by the European Commission’.  Given the advice 

provided to the Welsh Government in relation to the risk of providing an 

unlawful State Aid, we would like further clarification on what basis has the 

Welsh Government acted as a market investor?17 

 

                                       

14  RoP, paragraph 436 

15 AGW report, paragraph 3.15 

16 RoP, paragraphs 390 – 401 

17 RoP, paragraphs 167-169 

Pack Page 13



 

17.The Committee received little clarity on its questions about what certainties 

the Welsh Government had around the HoVDC ability to pay back the loan 

guarantee. Given the Welsh Government decision, do you now agree that 

the Welsh Government has in effect provided risk free finance to HoVDC, 

which could breach State Aid rules?18 If you do not agree, why not? 

Clarifications and additional information: 

The Committee would welcome a number of points of clarification and additional 

information on points raised during the evidence session. I understand the Clerks 

have e-mailed you with the action points you agreed to provide during the 

meeting, which we will be grateful to receive alongside the information below: 

18.During the evidence session, you quoted a figure of 20% as the typical 

proportion of total project cost required to reach financial close, which led 

to you drawing the conclusion that the Welsh Government’s exposure of 2% 

for the total project cost of circa £400 million to represent good value for 

money. What is the source for this 20% figure? Please can you clarify the 

type of project that is used to calculate the figure and also explain why such 

projects are appropriate comparators for the Circuit of Wales project? 

 

19.We were surprised that you stated that you did not believe the number of 

related companies or individuals was as high as nine19, which was the figure 

quoted in the Auditor General’s Report, given that the report was fact 

checked with HoVDC. The Committee understands from a Freedom of 

Information request disclosed by the Wales Audit Office that the names of 

seven companies [the names of two further individuals were not disclosed] 

were: 

- Aventa Capital Partners Ltd; 

- Stephenson Harwood LLP; 

- Insight Infrastructure Ltd; 

- Shaun Meadows Marketing Ltd; 

- Barton Communications Ltd; 

                                       

18 RoP, paragraph 181; AGW Report paragraph 2.15 

19 RoP, paragraph 111 

Pack Page 14



 

- Kalergo Ltd; and 

- Altitude Aviation Advisory Ltd 

 

 Which of the companies in the list disclosed by the Wales Audit Office do 

the Welsh Government believe are not related and what do you believe is 

the correct figure for the total number of related companies or individuals 

who received payments under the Property development Grant or loan 

guarantee arrangement? 

 

20.During the Committee, you stated that there had been a total expenditure 

of £55 million by all parties, of which the Welsh Government has an 

exposure of about £9.2 million. This is a larger figure than the £30 million 

which was quoted in the Auditor General’s report which had been fact 

checked with HoVDC. You undertook to verify the £55 million sum and 

provide the information to the Committee. Please can you confirm the 

amount of private sector investment in the Project which is now at risk in 

light of the Welsh Government decision? Please also provide the source of 

this information and what the Welsh Government has done to check its 

accuracy?  

 

21.You made reference to the numbers of businesses the Welsh Government 

supports and the failure rates associated with them, stating that ‘there were 

1,000 investments over five years, of which 3.4 per cent have gone 

wrong’.20 The Committee would welcome information on the source and 

accuracy of the figures quoted. Furthermore, the Committee would welcome 

clarification on what you meant by ‘gone wrong’ do you mean business 

failure, not achieving the intended outcome (e.g. jobs created) or something 

else? Please clarify how you define success and failure. 

 

22.During the evidence session, the Committee questioned you on whether the 

due diligence for the programme was rigorous and optimum. Due to the 

ongoing process, you were unable to provide a full response to this during 

                                       

20 RoP, paragraph 498 

Pack Page 15



 

the meeting but you undertook to provide a note giving more details of the 

due diligence process following the Cabinet decision, which we would be 

grateful if you could include as part of the response to this letter.21  

 

23.In the Cabinet Secretary’s Plenary statement of 27 June, he informed AMs 

that: ‘following discussions with Office for National Statistics and Her 

Majesty’s Treasury during the due diligence process, it is assessed that 

there is a very significant risk that the full £373 million debt of the entire 

Circuit of Wales project would be classified against Welsh Government 

capital spending.’ The Committee would welcome clarification as to when 

these discussions took place, and at what point in the due diligence process 

this accounting problem was first identified. 

  

24.The Committee note the reference to an ‘internal governance group’ within 

the Welsh Government to provide expert challenge. The Committee would 

like further information on what this Group is, who is on the Group; what 

challenge they offered in relation to Circuit of Wales, and how did officials 

respond?22 

The Welsh Government’s responses to the Auditor General’s Report: 

25.As discussed during the evidence session, the Committee were concerned 

by the Written Ministerial statement which expressed the Welsh 

Government’s ‘surprise and disappointment’ at the Auditor General’s 

decision to publish his Report during the pre-election period; and stated 

that they had not had sufficient time to consider and respond to the Report 

prior to its publication. A subsequent response to written assembly 

question from Adam Price clarified that officials did know about the 

intended publication of the report on 17 March 2017. Given that officials 

knew over a month before the Minister was formally informed, we would 

welcome clarification on whether the Minister was informally informed of 

                                       

21 RoP, paragraph 349 

22 RoP, paragraph 351 

Pack Page 16



 

the Auditor General’s intention to publish before being formally informed 

on 24 April? 

 

26.The Committee were particularly concerned that on a number of occasions 

throughout the evidence session you inferred that there were factual 

inaccuracies in the Auditor General’s Report. As the Committee understands 

it, the Auditor General reports are subject to a substantial and rigorous 

clearance process in order to be as fair and correct as possible, and we rely 

on these reports to undertake further scrutiny of often sensitive subjects 

and we take the suggestions of inaccuracies in the report very seriously. 

Therefore, aside from the error concerning the Economic Efficiency test 

being a UK and not a Welsh test23 please can you detail, with supporting 

evidence, what the other inaccuracies in the report are? 

 

27.Finally, during the evidence session you referred to having ‘learnt lessons 

as a result of this [the initial funding of the Circuit of Wales], which will 

allow us to do it better next time around’.24 Please could you set out what 

the lessons learnt were and what actions the Welsh Government is taking? 

 

  

                                       

23  AGW Report, paragraph 2.8 

24 RoP, paragraph 433 

Pack Page 17



 

We would be grateful if you could provide a response by 25 August 2017, in order 

for the Committee to consider this early in the autumn term.  I would again 

reiterate that we hope the responses that you provide to this letter will mean that 

the Committee can complete this inquiry without the need for an additional 

evidence session. 

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

Nick Ramsay AM 

Chair 

 

CC: Ms Shan Morgan, Permanent Secretary, Welsh Government 

Pack Page 18



Grwp yr Economi, Sgiliau a Chyfoeth Naturiol
Economy, Skills and Natural Resources Group

Dirprwy Ysgrifennydd Parhaol •  Deputy Permanent Secretary

Canolfan QED ● QED Centre
Y Brif Rodfa ● Main Avenue

Trefforest ● Treforest
Pontypridd, CF37 5YR

Ffôn  ● Tel 0300 025 6646
james.price@gov.wales

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk

Mr N Ramsay
Chair, Public Accounts Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF99 1NA

Our Ref/Your Ref:

  11 September 2017

Dear Mr Ramsay,

The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project 

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to provide additional information in relation to the 
initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project. 

I hope that the depth of the responses provided below will provide you with assurance on 
the decision making processes undertaken during the funding and assessment of this large, 
complex project. As requested, I have incorporated the views of Mr McGuire and Mr 
Munday in the collation of the responses to your comprehensive questions.  The responses 
to your questions are given in Annex 1.

The responses to the questions provided by the Clerk after the PAC session are also 
provided in Annex 2.

The Committee will see in the supplementary evidence that there are aspects of the 
handling of the project where, in retrospect, officials could have utilised improved 
processes.  I am making sure that we are learning the lessons and improving those 
processes.  I do hope that the Committee, in considering this evidence, will continue to bear 
in mind the novelty and complexity of the project, which had the potential to bring benefits to 
a part of Wales in need of further investment; but at the same time with considerable risks to 
the public purse.

Yours sincerely

James Price

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-24-17 P7

Pack Page 19

mailto:james.price@gov.wales


ANNEX 1

Overall Value for Money 

Question 1
During the evidence session on 26 June 2017, you stated that: 

“I am persuaded that we have achieved value for money for what we have got, 
yes, which is a project that is ready, subject to finance, to be delivered. So, 
yes.”

And that £9.3 million represented value for money regardless of whether the Project 
goes ahead. In light of the Welsh Government decision on 27 June, the Committee 
would like to know whether you believe this statement remains valid, and your 
justification for this view. 

The initial funding provided to the Heads of the Valleys Development Company (HOVDC) 
was to enable the company to develop a detailed business case together with detailed 
designs, to raise private funding and to obtain appropriate planning permission.  Whilst the 
Welsh Government has made the decision not to provide the guarantee requested, this is 
still a live project which could be progressed by the private sector.

As mentioned in PAC, the cost of developing the Circuit of Wales project is considered to be 
appropriate for a project of this complexity and magnitude. Some times costs are incurred in 
developing projects which don’t proceed.  It is important to invest sufficiently to determine 
whether a project is viable; had we not done so then we would potentially have had less 
robust data on which to base our eventual decision.

When assessing the initial support to HOVDC, the Welsh Government assessed the risks of 
providing financial support to the Circuit of Wales (CoW) project and the relative potential 
benefits to the economy.  It was determined that the benefit of providing the initial funding 
would be the advancement of the project and the securing of the economic impacts it would 
create. This was balanced against the risk of recovery of any costs incurred. Although 
recognised as a high risk at the time, these benefits were considered to represent value for 
money. The decision made by Cabinet does not affect the validity of this statement, which 
was informed by the evidence available at that time.

So yes, I still believe Welsh Government achieved value for money in the round regardless 
of the decision made on 27 June.  

Question 2 
The Committee would welcome any evidence of value for money in relation to 
payments made to suppliers on the basis of monthly retainers. 

All Welsh Government funding for the CoW project was awarded to HOVDC to enable the 
development of a business proposition for the project that could seek private investment.  
As a single purpose company, HOVDC does not have any direct employees but instead 
relies on contracting out all of their executive functions.  

It is not unusual that professional advisors charge fees based on a fixed monthly retainer 
rather than charging on an hourly or daily basis rate. This is common practice in the 
commercial market place.

Pack Page 20



Expenditure that was claimed under the Property Development Grant (PDG) or the bank 
guarantee was evidenced by HODVC by the provision of invoices.  All of the invoices stated 
the services supplied to HODVC and the associated costs, of which a number of the 
invoices were for monthly retainers.

For example, Aventa was paid a monthly retainer of £42,500 per month. Based on an 
average of 20 working days per month, this retainer equates to £2,125 per day. The Aventa 
service contract with the HOVDC was for the provision of services including that of Michael 
Carrick.  HOVDC told us that the retainer also covered costs of service provision from a 
number of individuals with specialist knowledge in the following areas:

o Renewable energy 
o Technology and data analytics
o Capital raising 
o Finance and reporting
o Communication and marketing
o Construction and negotiation
o Commercial research
o Financial modelling

Other services were invoiced separately and directly by suppliers (other than Aventa) and 
the costs were claimed separately as part of the PDG or covered by the guarantee.

Welsh Government officials therefore believed that the value of the retainers was 
appropriate and that the project was being taken forward at a pace which demonstrated the 
necessary activities were being undertaken.

Question 3 
During the evidence session, you quoted the core assumptions of 1000 jobs from the 
circuit and 4000 from the subsequent development. In explaining the reason for not 
deciding to invest further in the Circuit of Wales the Minister stated that: 

‘…once the initial track and directly related development… had reached a 
steady state of trading around the year 2024, the number of direct full-time-
equivalent (FTE) operational jobs would be little over 100. In addition, the 
circuit development could create around 500 indirect FTE jobs through 
potential visitor spend, as well as approximately 500 FTE construction jobs 
while the track was being built.’ 

How do the figures quoted in the meeting reconcile with the figures quoted to 
support the Welsh Government decision not to fund the Project? 

My evidence to the committee referred to the work done by the University of South Wales in 
2012-13 that indicated that they believed the core assumption for the CoW project at that 
point was just under 1,000 jobs.  The report also indicated that there would be around 4000 
jobs from the subsequent development. This analysis related to the project as it was 
envisaged at that time and it should be recognised that since then the project has evolved 
considerably, partially as a result of dialogue with Welsh Government, and the company’s 
employment proposals further refined.  

The changing nature of the project can be illustrated by the fact that in June 2014 the 
information presented to WIDAB in support of their grant application was based on direct full Pack Page 21



time equivalent employees (FTEs) of 304 which was made up of 49 full time permanent 
employees plus temporary staff for events equating to 255 FTEs.  

In reaching the recent decision, the analysis of potential employment was based on the due 
diligence of the most recent information submitted earlier this year by HOVDC in support of 
its application and reflects their up to date proposal.

The acquisition of FTR

Question 4
During the evidence session you stated that you considered the purchase of FTR 
represented value for money, do you still maintain that this is the case and if so, how 
does it represent value for money? 

The purchase of FTR was part of the funding provided via the PDG grant to enable HOVDC 
to develop a business case that would enable them to access private sector funding to 
construct a thriving motorsport hub as part of the CoW project.  The decision to provide 
funding was taken at an early stage and was considered to be sound at the time. 

The rationale for inclusion of FTR as part of the PDG was that the company would move to 
the CoW site and act as a catalyst for the development of a cluster of like minded 
companies which could utilise the circuit. If HOVDC had been able to progress the project in 
the timescale initially suggested then FTR would have been able to relocate to Wales as 
proposed by HOVDC.

The purchase of FTR was considered to be in line with Phase 1 of the CoW as officials 
agreed, during the negotiation of the PDG award letter, that the purchase of FTR was a key 
component in developing the planned business proposition particularly in reference to it 
being the catalyst around which the targeted Motor Racing and Advanced Engineering 
Sector cluster could be built.  This cluster would bring the greatest benefit in terms of impact 
on local jobs and the broader Welsh economy. 

Unfortunately the delays resulting from the HOVDC being unable to access the required 
private sector investment meant that the proposed development of a ‘Welsh’ motorcycle 
was not undertaken and FTR went into administration.

As a result of these unforeseen circumstances the specific inclusion of FTR as part of the 
eligible costs for the PDG has not represented value for money in this particular instance.  

Question 5 
You also referred to the significant amounts of scrutiny which were being applied to 
the PDG; we would like to know what specific scrutiny there was of the FTR item?

The Welsh Government has increased the level of scrutiny applied to PDGs since the time 
of this award. As I advised the committee in my evidence, the level of scrutiny now applied 
is significantly more rigorous. 

In relation to the FTR item, the rationale for the purchase was verbally questioned prior to 
agreement that the costs for the purchase would be included as eligible expenditure. 
Scrutiny of the claim resulted in part of the expenditure relating to FTR being disallowed as 
it related to working capital, and not to the eligible expenditure for the purchase. 

Pack Page 22



Welsh Government accepts that more scrutiny should have been undertaken at the 
appraisal stage before inclusion of the purchase of FTR within the PDG eligible costs.  As 
stated at the evidence session we have improved the level of scrutiny in this area.

Question 6
Despite your assurances at the meeting that the approval for purchasing FTR with 
PDG funds ‘.was considered in detail and thought through’ and ‘aligns with the 
project’ the Committee is still unclear about how these conclusions were drawn. 
Therefore, please could you explain precisely: 

- how the rationale for HoVDC to acquire FTR aligned with the purposes and the 
objectives of the PDG scheme? and; 

- how the rationale for HoVDC to acquire FTR fitted within the purposes of Phase 1 of 
the CoW Project? 

The Circuit of Wales is a unique property development project for which the company were 
seeking support to build a business proposition to secure private sector funding and to 
pursue a planning application. Whilst the CoW is not a standard property project, it is more 
aligned to property development than any other activity. Welsh Government has the power 
to provide grants for any purpose but it is preferred, where possible, to utilise a standard 
grant scheme.

The Property Development Grant (PDG) scheme provides support to business to develop 
and build property solutions in Wales, whereas investment grants are more targeted at 
investment into an existing or new business rather than a property. 

Consequently PDG was considered to be the best fit for the project as the focus was on 
developing a successful race circuit. HOVDC had also stated to officials that FTR was as 
equally important to the success of the Project as the MotoGP Licence. It was agreed that 
the expenditure would be appropriate to take the project further.

The purchase of FTR was considered to be in line with Phase 1 of the CoW as officials 
agreed, during the negotiation of the PDG, that the purchase of FTR was a key component
in developing the planned business proposition particularly in reference to it being the 
catalyst around which the targeted Motor Racing and Advanced Engineering Sector cluster 
could be built.  This cluster would bring the greatest benefit in terms of impact on local jobs 
and the broader Welsh economy. 

If the purchase of FTR had been delayed until Phase 2 of the project then the business 
case being developed to access further private sector funding as part of Phase 1 would 
have been weakened.  Inclusion of FTR in this phase of the project indicated that there was 
already interest and a level of commitment to the Circuit of Wales and the associated 
technology park.

Question 7
The Committee are unclear from your evidence and would welcome clarification on 
whether the inclusion of an item of £300,000 such as FTR, which the Auditor General 
stated does not align with a grant scheme’s core purposes, would be considered 
exceptional, and your reasons for such a decision. 

The rationale behind the inclusion of FTR as eligible costs for the PDG funding was that 
officials considered that FTR would bring expertise which would be the catalyst for a future Pack Page 23



cluster of related businesses around the Circuit of Wales.  At that time, the development of 
the business case for the CoW was at a critical stage and HOVDC explained to officials that 
both the MotoGP licence and the purchase of FTR were necessary for financial close and 
fundamental to supporting future revenue to secure the investment.

Looked at in isolation, we can see why the AGW might consider the purchase of FTR could 
have been considered to be exceptional.  However, the provision of the PDG was focused 
on enabling HOVDC to undertake a property development process to get to financial close: 
planning consent and fund raising were the key drivers for success. At the time officials 
considered that the purchase of FTR was in line with the objectives of the HOVDC 
developments being funded by the PDG and therefore concluded the purchase of FTR was 
not exceptional.

The scrutiny process for PDG applications has been significantly enhanced since the 
funding to HOVDC was awarded.  An application for PDG funding of £2m would now need 
to be considered by the Property Leadership Team (PLT), Investment Panel then the Welsh 
Industrial Development Advisory Board (WIDAB) before a recommendation is made to the 
relevant Minister.  This significantly increased level of scrutiny is likely to ensure items of a 
potentially exceptional nature are fully discussed and explored.  

Hence, if the PDG funding to HOVDC was to be considered under this new process, it is 
likely that the purchase of FTR would be highlighted as exceptional and would be reported 
as such in any recommendation to the relevant Minister.

Question 8 
The PDG was backdated by almost three months (for reasons which the Welsh 
Government has not yet explained to the Committee) and the FTR transaction took 
place before the grant was awarded. Please can the Welsh Government confirm 
whether the Welsh Government reviewed the FTR sale/purchase contract before 
approving FTR’s inclusion the grant, and if not, why not? 

The approval for the PDG funding to HOVDC was given by the Minister on the 9th August 
2012.  Following ministerial approval, officials developed the award letter in conjunction with 
legal services and met with HOVDC to explain the details of the letter and associated 
conditions.  The final, agreed award letter was subsequently issued to HOVDC on the 11th

October 2012 and signed by the company on the 16th October 2012. 

It is not uncommon for the start date of the funding period identified in the award letters to 
be the date of approval, in this case the 9th August 2012.  In this case the start date for the 
funding period was given as the 1st August 2012 in the award letter at the request of 
HOVDC.  Such changes are made at the discretion of officials involved prior to formal 
approval of the project. Any work undertaken between the start date of the funding and the 
date of approval is undertaken at risk by the company requesting the funding.

In this case, HOVDC did not include any expenditure prior to the 9th August in any of the 
claims made against the PDG offer.

I am unable to confirm that the Welsh Government reviewed the FTR sale/purchase 
contract before including the purchase of FTR within the grant’s eligible costs.  Sufficient 
evidence was provided by Shoosmiths, acting on behalf of HOVDC, to demonstrate that the 
contract had been signed and was in place prior to the claim being paid. However, in my 
view, the FTR contract should have been reviewed before the purchase of FTR was 
included as eligible expenditure or at least before the claim was paid.  As detailed Pack Page 24



previously, in response to question 7, the scrutiny process for PDG applications has been 
significantly improved since the funding to HOVDC was awarded.  

Question 9
The Committee has particular concerns around the decision to purchase FTR 
potentially not being approved by the Minister. We would welcome a response on 
why there is no evidence of the approval of grant funding for the acquisition of FTR 
being brought to the Ministers attention? And under what circumstances do you 
think it is appropriate to bring or not bring such an item to the Minister’s attention? 

As answered in the PAC session, when approval for grant funding is requested from the 
Minister, the associated advice does not normally detail all eligible expenditure that is likely 
to be included in the award letter. 

At the time, officials considered the purchase of FTR to be consistent with the objectives of 
the PDG scheme, and did not consider the purchase to be exceptional. The provision of the 
PDG was focused on enabling HOVDC to undertake a property development process to get 
to financial close, with planning consent and fund raising being the drivers for success.  
Officials considered the inclusion of FTR to be an important element and as the costs were 
deemed eligible in terms of PDG, the purchase was not explicitly brought to the attention of 
the Minister.  

In general, Ministerial submissions do not detail all of the expenditure included in a grant 
application.  However, if items are considered to be novel, contentious, repercussive or 
exceptional in nature they should be brought to the Minister’s attention. 

As detailed in question 7, if the enhanced approval process for the PDG were to be applied 
to the CoW application now, there is an expectation that the purchase of FTR would have 
been considered to be exceptional and would be specifically brought to the attention of the 
Minister.

Question 10 
The Committee noted the comments from yourself and Ms Mayes about record 
keeping that ‘officials should keep detailed records of all meetings and conversations 
with funding applicants’ and that ‘good practice would be the minimum level 
necessary to demonstrate why you did what you did’. The Committee would like to 
know what justification there is for the officials not keeping records concerning the 
decision around FTR and why is there no contemporaneous documentation relating 
to FTR? 

In this instance it is my view that the standard of record keeping at that time should have 
been better.  However, that error also appears to be an administrative shortcoming largely 
as a result of the volume of complex information being shared in a significant number of 
meetings and other discussions between officials and HOVDC; it does not reflect a 
conscious decision on the part of officials not to produce an appropriate record of the 
decision process or to retain contemporaneous documentation.  

The project was fast moving and any exchanges around the inclusion of FTR would likely 
have occurred in face-to-face meetings rather than via a sharing of hard copy 
documentation.  Officials were content that the rationale behind the inclusion of FTR in PDG 
was in line with the grant scheme, and that the purchase of FTR was an integral part of the 
first phase of the project that would enable HOVDC to move forward.  

Pack Page 25



Since that time, there has been an increased focus within Welsh Government and the 
department on the need to keep appropriate records to demonstrate the rationale behind 
decisions being recommended and made, for example I have issued communications to all 
ESNR officials informing them of the importance of keeping accurate records and it has 
been discussed in management team meetings and at all staff events. 

Further questions in relation to oral evidence

Question 11
During the evidence session, you stated that the HoVDC is the second time the Welsh 
Government has provided a loan guarantee. The Committee would welcome further 
information on the provision of loan guarantees by the Welsh Government. In 
particular: 

- what was the first guarantee referred to in evidence? 
- how was the guarantee secured? 
- was it called upon? If so, did the Welsh Government get the money back? 
- have any other guarantees been requested, declined or provided? 

The first loan guarantee provided by Welsh Government was in respect of a Unity Mine 
overdraft facility from their bank of £2m.  The maximum amount of the guarantee was £1.6m 
and this was agreed in September 2012. 

The Unity Mine guarantee was secured on mining assets at the site

The guarantee was called in the financial year 2013/14 after the company entered into 
administration in October 2013. The amount called and paid to the bank was £1.56m, and 
£1.57m was recovered following the decision by the joint administrators to sell the mining 
assets in February 2014.  The payment to Welsh Government of £1.57m covered the value 
of the guarantee called, plus fees and interest, and was made in July 2014.

Unity Mine is no longer trading which is why Welsh Government can provide the detail 
relating to the guarantee to this company.  

Welsh Government has received requests for guarantees from third parties as part of 
negotiations on other projects, and some of these have progressed beyond exploratory 
discussions.

Question 12
The need for separation of duties in terms of officials involved in supporting funding 
bids from those responsible for payment authorisation is a fundamental control. The 
Committee received reassurances from yourself and Ms Mayes at the meeting that 
the processes exist within the Welsh Government. However, these assurances still 
seem at odds with the findings within the Auditor General’s report that on 11 January 
2013 an official instructed his finance colleague to pay a grant claim, even though 
Welsh Government officials had not seen the relevant parts of the conditional sale 
contract. We would therefore welcome clarification on how this official’s instruction 
and its execution demonstrate the maintenance of an appropriate separation of 
duties. 

Welsh Government completely agrees that separation of duties between the finance team 
and the team who regularly engage with any grant recipient is crucial.  

Pack Page 26



In this case, the team who were dealing with HOVDC on a regular basis received the grant 
claim and associated evidence from the company.  The details of the claim were considered 
to confirm that evidence of expenditure was provided in line with the award letter.  The 
evidence and the confirmation that the claim was valid were then issued to the finance team 
for consideration and approval.

In line with their independent assessment of the claim, the finance team required additional 
information from HOVDC including relevant VAT invoices and confirmation of payment from 
the relevant legal representatives. Consequently there was considerable email 
communication between officials in the two teams to clarify exactly what evidence should be 
provided. This additional information was obtained from HOVDC by the team dealing with 
the company which is standard practice.

Once this additional information was provided by HOVDC, the evidence was provided to the 
finance team for consideration and approval.  Whilst the email from the officials involved in 
supporting HOVDC and their funding bid does state ‘I therefore would confirm my revised 
confirmation that the grant claim should be paid’, this was not an instruction but a 
recommendation.  As demonstrated earlier in the email trail, the finance team were unwilling 
to approve payment without sufficient evidence being provided.  The payment was 
approved based on sufficient evidence being provided to the finance team to provide them 
with the assurance they required. 

Whilst none of the officials involved in these processes had seen the whole of the 
conditional sale contract, sufficient evidence had been provided to demonstrate that the 
contract had been signed and was in place. 

I am therefore content that the email trail demonstrates the maintenance of appropriate 
separation of duties. 

Question 13
The Auditor General’s report identifies that PDG grant payments to HoVDC included 
reimbursing HoVDC for a deposit held in escrow, and this type of payment would not 
normally be considered eligible for grant because it represents settlement of a 
payment not yet defrayed. During the evidence session, Ms Mayes set out that in this 
instance the Welsh Government believed the Welsh Government was correct to pay 
to HoVDC the full amount claimed, however it is not clear why this conclusion was 
drawn. While we accept that a deposit held in an escrow account is not unusual in 
conditional property sales transactions we also note that such amounts are not 
normally eligible expenditure - so please can you explain why in this case the Welsh 
Government considered this grant claim payment to be correct? 

The PDG award letter stated that HOVDC would be paid on a defrayed basis, which means 
that the payment to suppliers etc. had to have left HOVDC’s bank account.  The Welsh 
Government usually considers payment into an escrow account to be eligible for grant as 
the payment has been defrayed by the grant recipient. There have been a number of 
instances where grant payments have been made where the expenditure has left the grant 
recipient’s account and been placed in an escrow account. 

In this case, the finance team requested specific additional information to demonstrate that 
the money had been defrayed by HOVDC. Confirmation was received from HOVDC’s 
solicitors that the £200,000 for the land was transferred to the land owner’s solicitor on 17 
December 2012.  In accordance with the contract between HOVDC and the land owner, 

Pack Page 27



£100,000 was held by the land owner’s solicitor (in the escrow account) as a deposit whilst
the remaining £100,000 was paid to the land owner. 

Hence, officials were content that the whole of the £200,000 had been defrayed by HOVDC 
and, as such, was an eligible element of the claim for payment.

Question 14 
In response to the Committee questions about why the HoVDC accounts were not 
audited, Ms Mayes stated that the company accounts were not 
audited because the companies were not required to do so.  We have some 
significant concerns about this because a requirement of the loan guarantee 
agreement was for HoVDC to provide audited financial statements to the Welsh 
Government. Therefore we would like clarification on why this condition to provide 
audited financial statements was imposed as part of the loan guarantee? And then 
why this condition was not enforced? 

The guarantee loan agreement between the HOVDC and the Welsh Ministers states in the 
Conditions Precedent that HOVDC needed to provide a copy of their ‘audited financial 
statements for the period ending 31 May 2014’.  This is a standard banking condition and 
was included in the agreement in order for it to operate under commercial terms in line with 
Market Economy Operating Principles (MEOP). Considering the status of the company the 
condition should have been better worded to require the provision of statutory accounts as 
legally HOVDC were not required to provide audited accounts 

The external legal team advising the Welsh Ministers drafted the agreement and also 
sought the evidence for the Conditions Precedent from HOVDC’s lawyers.  Subsequently, 
HOVDC’s lawyers confirmed in writing that they were unable to provide audited accounts for 
May 2014 as there were no audited financial statements prepared for HOVDC.  Instead 
unaudited financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2013 were provided to our 
lawyers.  Management accounts and cash flow forecasts to December 2014 were also 
provided at that time. Given the fact that the agreement was due to be signed in July 2014 it 
should not be surprising that accounts for the period up to 31 May 2014 were not available.  

Our lawyers subsequently advised officials that sufficient evidence had been obtained from 
HODVC to provide assurance that this particular condition had been met and also provided 
hard copies of the evidence for this and other conditions.

Question 15
The Committee questioned the decision not to inform WIDAB about the potential loan 
guarantee support when they were considering whether to support the £18 million 
repayable business finance application for this project. We would welcome 
clarification that, if the same circumstances arose, whether the Welsh Government 
would now tell WIDAB about the potential loan guarantee?

The WIDAB guidance has been updated as result of the WAO recommendations from the 
initial funding to the Circuit of Wales.  

The revised Business Finance Guidance states that as part of the recommendation process 
for a WIDAB case the Head of Sector must ensure that WIDAB is informed about all other 
Welsh Government support to a project that it is asked to consider, whether or not that 
support has yet been approved. 

Pack Page 28



As a result of this revised guidance, WIDAB would now be informed about the potential loan 
guarantee support if the same circumstances arose.

Question 16
The Committee were particularly concerned about the findings in the Auditor 
General’s report that the Welsh Government’s own officials advised that ‘providing 
the loan guarantee in addition to the RBF might be problematic in relation to state 
aid’ and that they were ‘…unable to offer any reassurance to Ministers that the 
proposals would stand up to either judicial scrutiny or analysis by the European 
Commission’. Given the advice provided to the Welsh Government in relation to the 
risk of providing an unlawful State Aid, we would like further clarification on what 
basis has the Welsh Government acted as a market investor?

Prior to recommending that that a guarantee was provided to the HOVDC the Welsh 
Government satisfied itself that the interest rate was in line with market economy principles.  
In the determination of the interest to be charged to HOVDC for the guarantee officials 
considered: 

 The interest rate charged by HOVDC’s bank for the secured loan for the CoW 
project;

 The interest rates that Finance Wales would have charged for an unsecured loan to a 
small company; and 

 The European Commission’s guidance on determining the reference rate 
methodology (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008XC0119(01)&from=EN) for a start up 
company with a low level of security.

The interest rate charged to HOVDC for the guarantee was greater than the interest rates 
identified in this research. A detailed legal contract was developed using external legal 
expertise which included taking security on the assets of the HOVDC (and its subsidiaries) 
and a significant increase in the interest rate if the guarantee was called in.

The implementation of this methodology provided assurance that the Welsh Government 
was acting as a market investor.  

When providing advice to Ministers, it is imperative that officials advise Ministers of any 
potential risks associated with any decision.  With any state aid, especially in the case of 
market economy operator principle (MEOP), there is always a risk of challenge. This risk 
was highlighted in the advice provided to the Minister to enable her to take an informed 
decision taking into account all the available information and analysis.

Question 17
The Committee received little clarity on its questions about what certainties the 
Welsh Government had around the HoVDC ability to pay back the loan guarantee. 
Given the Welsh Government decision, do you now agree that the Welsh Government 
has in effect provided risk free finance to HoVDC, which could breach State Aid 
rules? If you do not agree, why not? 

Security for the guarantee was taken by Welsh Government in the form of a debenture over 
all of the assets of HOVDC and its subsidiaries, albeit this security was ranked behind a first 
charge of £2m in favour of the lender for a separate facility. In awarding this loan guarantee, 
consideration was given to the degree of risk being taken by Welsh Government and the 

Pack Page 29

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008XC0119(01)&from=EN)
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008XC0119(01)&from=EN)


level of security available and the fee for the guarantee was priced accordingly in-line with 
the market rate for provision of finance of this type. 

In providing a loan guarantee on wholly commercial terms, Welsh Government was acting in 
line with the Market Economy Operator Principle (MEOP) as defined by the European 
Commission and which therefore does not confer a State Aid. 

Advice was provided to Ministers that this was a high risk transaction and, as in any such 
case, we also advised Ministers that there was potential for a State Aid challenge (as there 
always is in MEOP cases). 

We do not agree that HOVDC were awarded risk free finance, but rather they entered into, 
in effect, an unsecured loan facility which was priced accordingly inline with the market and 
was considerably more expensive than a similar secured facility would have been. The 
Circuit of Wales is still a live project and it remains a possibility that the guarantee may be 
paid back, with interest, to the Welsh Government.

Clarifications and additional information

Question 18 
During the evidence session, you quoted a figure of 20% as the typical proportion of 
total project cost required to reach financial close, which led to you drawing the 
conclusion that the Welsh Government’s exposure of 2% for the total project cost of 
circa £400 million to represent good value for money. What is the source for this 20% 
figure? Please can you clarify the type of project that is used to calculate the figure 
and also explain why such projects are appropriate comparators for the Circuit of 
Wales project? 

Grant Thornton UK LLP has highlighted that, in its experience, development costs can be in 
the order of 20% on property and regeneration deals. Unfortunately individual project details 
behind this information cannot be provided as Grant Thornton is unable to identify individual 
projects because of client confidentiality restrictions.

It stated that, as a broad rule of thumb, the total price of a scheme can be split 
approximately one third land costs, one third construction costs and one third profit, with the 
latter including the development costs. Assuming profit is in the 10-15% range (which would 
broadly represent the Weighted Average Cost of Capital for the construction sector) then 
the development costs are around 20%. Whilst Grant Thornton UK LLP were able to 
highlight this rule of thumb, they highlighted that they do not have any knowledge of the 
specific case and therefore are not able to provide a definitive view. The approximation is 
only able to give an indication of the likely range of costs rather than a firm view.

Question 19
We were surprised that you stated that you did not believe the number of related 
companies or individuals was as high as nine, which was the figure quoted in the 
Auditor General’s Report, given that the report was fact checked with HoVDC. The 
Committee understands from a Freedom of Information request disclosed by the 
Wales Audit Office that the names of seven companies [the names of two further 
individuals were not disclosed] were: 

- Aventa Capital Partners Ltd; 
- Stephenson Harwood LLP; 
- Insight Infrastructure Ltd; Pack Page 30



- Shaun Meadows Marketing Ltd; 
- Barton Communications Ltd; 
- Kalergo Ltd; and 
- Altitude Aviation Advisory Ltd 

Which of the companies in the list disclosed by the Wales Audit Office do the Welsh
Government believe are not related and what do you believe is the correct figure for 
the total number of related companies or individuals who received payments under 
the Property development Grant or loan guarantee arrangement? 

Welsh Government’s due diligence process includes consideration of directors and 
shareholders of companies requesting funding.  Checks are made to determine whether the 
directors or shareholders have any associated companies and/or county court judgements 
(CCJs) or whether any of the directors have been banned from being directors at any point 
in time.  Where issues or concerns are raised, then further investigations in these specific 
areas are undertaken. We would not necessarily consider directors or share holders of 
related companies as having the ability to influence the company being funded in the 
normal course of business and so would not look at them, focusing only on those individuals 
with direct means to influence

Whilst WAO have identified companies with links to HOVDC some of the links are wider 
than those that Welsh Government would consider to be a related company or individual..  

Whilst Welsh Government accepts the WAO list of companies that have some wider links to 
HOVDC, none of the companies identified below have common directors or shareholders 
with HOVDC therefore they would not be able to have any effect on the day to day 
operations of HOVDC:

- Shaun Meadows Marketing Ltd; 
- Barton Communications Ltd; and
- Kalergo Ltd. 

.  
From the list of companies identified above, the Welsh Government considers that the 
following companies are related to HOVDC due to the presence of common directors or 
shareholders:

- Stephenson Harwood LLP; 
- Aventa Capital Partners Ltd; 
- Insight Infrastructure Ltd; 
- Altitude Aviation Advisory Ltd

These companies received payments under the Property Development Grants or loan 
guarantee arrangements.

In order to ensure that related companies who are providing services to a possible grant 
recipient are identified, amendments have been made to the Business Finance application 
form and guidance in line with the WAO recommendation. Additional due diligence is now 
undertaken if a related company is identified as a supplier on the application form for 
funding.

Directors and shareholders can change at various points in time and in some instances the 
organisation applying for funding will not have identified all the suppliers at application Pack Page 31



stage.  Therefore, the Welsh Government is unable to always mitigate the risk that related 
companies may be used by grant recipients. Any companies used as suppliers must provide 
their services on an arms length basis and be able to demonstrate value for money.

Question 20
During the Committee, you stated that there had been a total expenditure of £55 
million by all parties, of which the Welsh Government has an exposure of about £9.2 
million. This is a larger figure than the £30 million which was quoted in the Auditor 
General’s report which had been fact checked with HoVDC. You undertook to verify 
the £55 million sum and provide the information to the Committee. Please can you 
confirm the amount of private sector investment in the Project which is now at risk in 
light of the Welsh Government decision? Please also provide the source of this 
information and what the Welsh Government has done to check its accuracy? 

The £55m figure was taken from a confidential document provided to Welsh Government by 
HOVDC after publication of the WAO report. The information was not considered as part of 
the due diligence and did not form part of the Cabinet Paper.  Hence, the Welsh 
Government has not undertaken any detailed checks on the information provided from 
HOVDC but our high level review suggests the amount of private sector contribution to the 
project is around £50m.

Question 21
You made reference to the numbers of businesses the Welsh Government supports 
and the failure rates associated with them, stating that ‘there were 1,000 investments 
over five years, of which 3.4 per cent have gone wrong’. The Committee would 
welcome information on the source and accuracy of the figures quoted. Furthermore, 
the Committee would welcome clarification on what you meant by ‘gone wrong’ do 
you mean by business failure, not achieving the intended outcome (e.g. jobs created) 
or something else? Please clarify how you define success and failure. 

The source of this data is internal records of offers made for support under the Welsh 
Government’s support for Business Finance1, during the period of the Fourth Assembly 
(June 2011 to April 2016). It should be noted this data was collated in a ‘snapshot analysis’ 
in November 2016 from historic records and at that time was considered to be a fair 
reflection of offers made during the 4th Assembly. The number of offers made during this 
period was 1,264.  

To clarify the meaning of “gone wrong”, in terms of these offers, 43 projects (3.4%) failed to 
deliver all the expected outputs under the specific terms and conditions of their individual 
offers of support.  These projects were therefore subject to some form of grant recovery by 
Welsh Government officials, resulting in the issue of a formal invoice under debt 
management protocols.

Within the overall total, 32 projects (2.53%) supported were subject to business insolvency, 
liquidation or administration. In these instances, officials were unable to assist the business 
prior to its failure and the appointment of an insolvency practitioner.

The remaining 11 projects (0.87%) were subject to some form of recovery activity, due to 
the failure of the business to meet its ongoing obligations (for job creation/safeguarding 

                       
1

Business Finance relates to a number of funding schemes that were available during this period including 
Wales Economic Growth Fund, Repayable Business Finance, Tourism Investment Support Scheme, Digital 
Development Fund, SMART Cymru.Pack Page 32



and/or asset purchase/retention) under the terms and conditions of the offer of support. In 
all these cases, the individual businesses continued to trade and officials undertook debt 
management activity to recover funds previously released to the business.

A project is considered to have failed if, after receiving payment in line with its 
achievements, the recipient fails to maintain the project related assets and jobs for the 
required length of time stipulated by the terms and conditions of the offer. This failure can 
occur at any point during the life of the project.

Following release of final payment, every project is required to satisfy the “conditions” period 
applied to each individual offer. This is the period of time that jobs and assets supported by 
the project must be retained for. 

The applicable conditions periods applied to offers made under Business Support are 3 
years (SMEs) and 5 years (non SMEs) respectively, from the date of the last/final payment 
of support.  

A successful project would see these conditions periods satisfied in full.

Question 22
During the evidence session, the Committee questioned you on whether the due 
diligence for the programme was rigorous and optimum. Due to the ongoing process, 
you were unable to provide a full response to this during the meeting but you 
undertook to provide a note giving more details of the due diligence process 
following the Cabinet decision, which we would be grateful if you could include as 
part of the response to this letter. 

In approaching the design of the due diligence process, Welsh Government had regard to 
the statement made by the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure and to the 
type of process that a market economy investor would undertake in the context of the nature 
of the project and the scale of the financial support requested. 

Comprehensive and rigorous due diligence was undertaken by external advisors on the 
application for support from HOVDC.  This due diligence reviewed the normal commercial 
concerns relating to the company business plan, market analysis construction cost and legal 
contracts. In addition the due diligence team have also reviewed the economic impact 
claimed by the company, legal position with regard to State Aid, the impact on Welsh 
Government finances and budgets and has also included a corporate intelligence review of 
key individuals (fit and proper person test). In line with the recommendations of WAO in 
their recently published review on the initial funding awarded to the project, the finance 
experts also looked at related company transactions both in the past and going forward.

To summarise, external due diligence was commissioned in the following areas: 
 Financial Due Diligence
 Fit and Proper Person Assessment2

 Market Analysis 
 Economic Impact Analysis
 Quantity Surveyor Advisors 

                       
2

In making the appointment in relation to the fit and proper person test officials were mindful of the need to 
include in this a review of related companies and in particular Aventa Capital Partners. This aspect of the work 
was considered to be a normal commercial requirement but also recognised the issues raised by the Auditor 
General in his April report in relation to the initial funding provided to the projectPack Page 33



 Legal Advisors on Contracts
 Legal Advisors on State Aid.

Additional internal due diligence was provided in the area of public law. 

The Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure has stated that the appropriate due 
diligence information, that can be released, will be published. Officials are considering how 
much of this advice can be released in light of confidentiality obligations, the Data 
Protection Act and other legal and commercial considerations. The Welsh Government will 
publish the relevant information in due course.

Question 23
In the Cabinet Secretary’s Plenary statement of 27 June, he informed AMs that: 
‘following discussions with Office for National Statistics and Her Majesty’s Treasury 
during the due diligence process, it is assessed that there is a very significant risk 
that the full £373 million debt of the entire Circuit of Wales project would be classified 
against Welsh Government capital spending.’ The Committee would welcome 
clarification as to when these discussions took place, and at what point in the due 
diligence process this accounting problem was first identified

Welsh Government officials have been having discussions with the Office of National 
Statistics (ONS) around the classification guidelines since summer 2015.  These 
discussions assisted Welsh Government officials’ assessment of risk in the Circuit of Wales 
project. The ONS does not provide formal classification advice on potential developments, 
but on final contracts. However, they work collaboratively with Welsh Government officials 
to ensure policy decisions are fully informed.

Officials were engaged in discussions about iterations of the Circuit of Wales proposal with 
the Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) classification team on the potential accounting problem 
since March 2016 and as recently as June 2017. The assessment of the classification risk 
relating specifically to the final Circuit of Wales proposal was undertaken by Welsh 
Government officials based on advice from HMT and was informed by the findings from the 
external due diligence reports in June 2017.

Question 24
The Committee note the reference to an ‘internal governance group’ within the Welsh 
Government to provide expert challenge. The Committee would like further 
information on what this Group is, who is on the Group; what challenge they offered 
in relation to Circuit of Wales, and how did officials respond?

The Internal Assurance Group was set up in March 2017 to provide an additional level of 
scrutiny to the decision making process around the Circuit of Wales project.  The group met 
three times to discuss the proposal prior to the submission of the Cabinet paper in June 
2017. The role of the group was to assist Economy, Skills and Natural Resources (ESNR) 
officials to deliver a fair and balanced report to Cabinet which covered all the key areas of 
concern. 

The group consisted of key individuals from across the Welsh Government including the 
Director of Finance, Director -Communities & Tackling Poverty, the Chief Economist and 
Director of Legal Services Department.  The group also included Directors and individuals 
with key skills (eg governance, Finance, communications) from across ESNR. 

Pack Page 34



The group provided a significant level of challenge to the due diligence process; ensuring 
that key considerations had not been overlooked or testing assumptions made by ESNR 
officials.  ESNR officials welcomed the challenge of the Assurance Group.

The due diligence reports were also shared with the group together with appraisal reports of 
the findings from the external experts. The material issues raised by the Assurance Group 
were captured within the Cabinet paper on which the Government’s decision was based.

The Welsh Government’s responses to the Auditor General’s Report

Question 25
As discussed during the evidence session, the Committee were concerned by the 
Written Ministerial statement which expressed the Welsh Government’s ‘surprise and 
disappointment’ at the Auditor General’s decision to publish his Report during the 
pre-election period; and stated that they had not had sufficient time to consider and 
respond to the Report prior to its publication. A subsequent response to written 
assembly question from Adam Price clarified that officials did know about the 
intended publication of the report on 17 March 2017. Given that officials knew over a 
month before the Minister was formally informed, we would welcome clarification on 
whether the Minister was informally informed of the Auditor General’s intention to 
publish before being formally informed on 24 April? 

Officials have been unable to identify any evidence that the Minister was informally informed 
of the Auditor General’s intention to publish before being formally informed on 24 April.

Question 26
The Committee were particularly concerned that on a number of occasions 
throughout the evidence session you inferred that there were factual inaccuracies in 
the Auditor General’s Report. As the Committee understands it, the Auditor General 
reports are subject to a substantial and rigorous clearance process in order to be as 
fair and correct as possible, and we rely on these reports to undertake further 
scrutiny of often sensitive subjects and we take the suggestions of inaccuracies in 
the report very seriously. Therefore, aside from the error concerning the Economic 
Efficiency test being a UK and not a Welsh test please can you detail, with supporting 
evidence, what the other inaccuracies in the report are? 

My remarks about accuracy of the AGW report relate to our concerns that some of the 
details as presented in the WAO report, without associated context and additional 
information being given, could lead to a mistaken interpretation of those details or incorrect 
inference by a reader without any other knowledge of the matters covered.  

Essentially, in a number of areas, we had asked the AGW to provide additional information 
to provide a fuller picture, allowing others to reach a fair conclusion when scrutinising the 
report.  I would be happy to provide the Committee with a copy of my letter to the AGW on 
these points.

Question 27
Finally, during the evidence session you referred to having ‘learnt lessons as a result 
of this [the initial funding of the Circuit of Wales], which will allow us to do it better 
next time around’. Please could you set out what the lessons learnt were and what 
actions the Welsh Government is taking? 

Pack Page 35



The Welsh Government is committed to continuous improvements and is always looking to 
improve its processes.  For example, in June 2014 as part of our improvements to the 
approval process for Commercial Loans, the consideration of sector supported PDGs was 
included in the Financial Approval process.

The WAO report into the funding of the Circuit of Wales raised a number of 
recommendations from which the Welsh Government were able to learn lessons:

 There is now a requirement for applicants to declare on the Business Finance 
application form if any transactions involving Business Finance will be conducted 
through related companies. The applicant must provide details of these transactions. 
The information that is provided by the applicant, will used as part of the Welsh 
Government due diligence procedures; 

 As part of the recommendation process for a WIDAB case the Head of Sector must 
ensure that WIDAB is informed about all other Welsh Government support to a 
project that it is asked to consider, whether or not that support has yet been 
approved. Our internal guidance has been strengthened to reflect this requirement; 
and

 The importance of keeping a written record of the analysis of a project that includes 
key evidence, risk analysis and mitigation and rationale for any recommendation to 
Ministers has been communicated to officials.

 The importance of time for clearance with appropriate officials, who have the detailed 
knowledge and a clear understanding of timelines etc.

Welsh Government has only considered a guarantee on a very small number of occasions 
and in each case the circumstances and the details have been very different. Whilst 
guarantees are only one form of MEOP, this is an area in which officials have gained 
considerably more experience and have developed a methodology that is much more 
sophisticated than what was in place at the time of the CoW guarantee.  The key lesson 
learnt from the guarantee relating to CoW is that we now obtain evidence of MEOP from 
external advisers to provide assurance on the commerciality of the terms of the agreement

Pack Page 36



ANNEX 2

Response to Questions raised by the Clerk in June 2017

1. Total expenditure incurred and the funding the Welsh Government has put in to 
date

The total expenditure incurred as reported by Heads of the Valleys Development Company 
(HOVDC), up to early June, is detailed in the response to Question 20 in Annex 1.

The funding the Welsh Government paid out in relation to the Circuit of Wales projects is as 
follows:

 £2 million: Property Development Grant Fund
 £7.3 million: Repayment of the HOVDC’s bank loan under the Welsh Government 

Guarantee.

2. Internal guidance officials adhere to when assessing grant applications;

The Welsh Government’s Grants Centre of Excellence has developed minimum standards 
for assessing grant applications.  These minimum standards provide best practice for the 
development; implementation and monitoring of grant schemes across the Welsh 
Government.  Officials use these standards to develop proportionate desk instructions for 
individual grant schemes. 

The minimum standards for application based grant schemes are available on the Welsh 
Government internet at: http://gov.wales/funding/grants/contact-us/?lang=en

These minimum standards would have been utilised in respect of the recent application 
from the Circuit of Wales. 

3. Provide further details, following the Cabinets’ decision on funding the Circuit of 
Wales project, on the due diligence process carried out.

Details of the due diligence process carried out is provided in the response to Question 22 
in Annex 1.

4. Investigate who from the Welsh Government made the comment on a press 
statement about ‘grandstanding’ and advise the Chair.

I have reviewed the press statements issued by Welsh Government on this matter and none 
contain a comment of that kind.

Pack Page 37

http://gov.wales/funding/grants/contact-us/?lang=en


 

 

Page 1 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - please contact us in 

Welsh or English / cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

 

Mr Nick Ramsay AM 
Chair of the Public Accounts Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff  CF99 1NA 

 

Reference:    HVT/2747/caf 

Date issued: 14 September 2017 

Dear Nick 

The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project 

I have received a copy of the Welsh Government’s response of 11 September 2017 to 

your letter of 12 July seeking written evidence from them, following the Committee’s oral 

evidence session with the Deputy Permanent Secretary on 26 June. 

I have a number of observations on the content of the Welsh Government’s response, 

which I should like to draw to your attention in order to assist the Committee’s 

consideration and preparation of its own report. 

Where my comments relate primarily to the Circuit of Wales project issues that were the 

subject of my published audit report, these are set out in the Annex to this letter. 

However, I also have some specific comments on those aspects of the Welsh 

Government’s response which relate to their handling of matters both before and after the 

publication of my audit report on 27 April 2017, and I have set these out below. 

In Question 25, the Committee asked the Welsh Government whether officials had 

informally informed the Minister about my Report publication date. In the enclosure to my 

letter to Adam Price AM dated 8 May 2017 (which I have previously shared with the 

Committee), I set out the chronology of key dates leading to publication of my Report on 

27 April.  I find it very surprising that officials:  

• did not alert the Minister about my Report’s publication date until 24 April, even 

though my Study Director had informed the Deputy Permanent Secretary in writing 

about my publication intentions on 17 March; and 

• did not take sufficient steps to ensure the factual accuracy of the Written 

Statement that was issued by the Minister on 27 April.   

Question 27 asked the Welsh Government about lessons learned and remedial actions. I 

am naturally pleased that the Welsh Government has accepted in full all of my Report’s 

recommendations and has already begun to take action on these.  

Question 26 specifically asked the Welsh Government to elaborate on its previous 

assertion of factual inaccuracies within my Report. I share the Committee’s concerns in 

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan 

Cardiff / Caerdydd 

CF11 9LJ 

Tel / Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 

Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone / Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru 

www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-24-17 P8

Pack Page 38

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Page 2 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

this matter and I am particularly concerned that in its written response the Welsh 

Government has continued to imply that such shortcomings exist without actually 

providing any evidenced examples, despite the Committee’s direct request that it should 

do so.  

I should therefore like to assure the Committee that: 

• with the exception of one minor error (to which I have previously drawn the 

Committee’s attention) in relation to the economic efficiency test being a UK test 

and not specifically a Welsh test [see Report, paragraph 2.8], I remain satisfied that 

my Report is factually correct; and 

• there is nothing contained in any of the Welsh Government’s evidence given in 

response to the Committee’s oral and written questions that would cause me to 

modify my Report’s conclusions. 

The Committee will be aware that I am currently undertaking a review of Welsh 

Government support for business within my programme of national value for money 

studies. As part of that review, I intend to examine how the Welsh Government has 

improved its procedures and working practices in light of my previous recommendations 

and those of the Committee.  

I hope that these comments and observations are of assistance to the Committee. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

HUW VAUGHAN THOMAS 
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WALES 
 

 

 

Enclosed:  

Annex - Circuit of Wales Project: the Auditor General’s observations on the Welsh 

Government’s   written evidence to the Committee 

  

Pack Page 39



Page 3 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

Annex 

Circuit of Wales Project: the Auditor General’s observations on the 
Welsh Government’s written evidence to the Committee 

Overall value for money 

1. In response to Question 1, the Deputy Permanent Secretary has restated his belief 

that the Welsh Government achieved value for money from the £9.3 million of initial 

support it provided to the Circuit of Wales (CoW) project, notwithstanding its decision 

to refuse further publicly funded support. However, in response to Question 4, the 

Welsh Government acknowledges that the nearly £300,000 of public funds provided 

for the Heads of the Valleys Development Company (HoVDC) to acquire FTR Moto 

Limited [a Buckinghamshire-based specialist motorcycle engineering company, now in 

administration] did not represent value for money.  

2. The Committee questioned the extent of Welsh Government scrutiny and challenge of 

payments made to HoVDC’s suppliers on the basis of monthly retainers and 

requested evidence of value for money (Question 2). The Welsh Government 

response states: ‘All of the invoices stated the services supplied to HoVDC and the 
associated costs…’.  However, this statement is not borne out by my auditors’ 

examination of information held within the Welsh Government’s own files, which 

contain invoices for monthly fees without any detail of actual services provided or 

costs incurred [see also my Report, paragraphs 3.22 – 3.25].  

3. The Welsh Government goes on to list services which it says HoVDC has told them 

were covered by the monthly retainer of £42,000 paid to Aventa [a company 

contracted by HoVDC to raise private investment funds for the CoW project, wholly 

owned by HoVDC Chief Executive Michael Carrick]. It does not say when HoVDC 

provided this information, which the Welsh Government did not make available to my 

auditors during their review. However, Mr Carrick did provide information to my 

auditors about Aventa’s fees and services though this does not match the Welsh 

Government’s list. 

4. In my report, I concluded that the Welsh Government had permitted payments without 

sufficient evidence that the services provided to the CoW project represented good 

value for public money [see paragraph 15]. The Welsh Government states that 

officials ‘believed that the value of the retainers was appropriate’, but has not provided 

the Committee with any contemporaneous evidence of what this belief was based 

upon that would lead me to alter my conclusion.  

The acquisition of FTR 

5. The Committee asked the Welsh Government for clarification and evidence relating to:  

• whether HoVDC’s acquisition of FTR Moto Limited represented value for public 

money; 

Pack Page 40



Page 4 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

• the rationale for the Welsh Government’s approval of grant funding for the 

acquisition; 

• whether the acquisition aligned with the grant scheme’s purposes; 

• about the extent of specific scrutiny of the acquisition’s inclusion within approved 

grant expenditure; 

• whether officials had drawn their Minister’s attention to the FTR item; and 

• the quality of Welsh Government record-keeping. 

6. I acknowledge that the Deputy Permanent Secretary has changed his view from that 

which he expressed at PAC in June; and that he now accepts that the FTR acquisition 

does not represent value for public money. However, in my view the Welsh 

Government’s response does not adequately explain why HoVDC’s acquisition of FTR 

was necessary for phase 1 of the Project, or provide sufficient justification for why the 

Welsh Government approved PDG funding for it.  In essence, the Welsh Government 

approved £300,000 of grant funding intended for property development in Wales so 

that HoVDC could acquire a small engineering company in Buckinghamshire.  

7. The Welsh Government’s explanation to the Committee of why it did this hinges upon 

investor confidence in the initial circuit construction project being supported by FTR’s 

relocation to a technology business park, in turn encouraging other motorsport 

companies to establish themselves there. In my Report, I highlighted:  

• The lack of any contemporaneous Welsh Government documentation to support 

this (or indeed any) rationale for providing grant funding for the acquisition 

[paragraph 4.5].  

• A motor sport-related business park did not form part of the CoW project’s first 

phase comprising fund-raising, obtaining planning consent and site acquisition, 

for which the grant was provided, nor was it part of the second phase of 

constructing the race circuit and associated facilities, for which HoVDC sought 

private investors [paragraphs 9, 1.7, 4.4; and exhibit 2].  

9. The Welsh Government’s explanation might therefore provide some degree of 

justification for relocation support to FTR at a future point, assuming completion and 

successful operation of the race circuit and then subsequent development of a 

business park, but this did not form any part of phase 1 of the CoW project.   

10. The Welsh Government has suggested to the Committee that delaying FTR’s 

acquisition would have weakened the business case for private investment and that its 

inclusion within phase 1 indicated ‘interest and a level of commitment’ to the circuit 

and technology park. However, the business case submitted to the Welsh 

Government by HoVDC did not include FTR’s acquisition [see Report paragraph 4.1] 

and the ‘interest’ and ‘commitment’ was from a company that HoVDC had itself 

already acquired before the Welsh Government awarded the grant [Report paragraph 

4.2].    

Pack Page 41



Page 5 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

11. The Welsh Government has also asserted that the rationale for the FTR acquisition 

had been ‘verbally questioned’ by officials and has accepted that PDG support for the 

transaction should have been subject to greater scrutiny before approval was granted. 

However, I note that it has been unable to provide PAC with evidence of any actual 

scrutiny or challenge of the statements made to it by HoVDC, or indeed of its own 

decision-making in relation to FTR. 

12. The Deputy Permanent Secretary has acknowledged in his response to Question 8 

that officials should have reviewed the FTR acquisition contract, but also that he is 

unable to confirm that this took place. In my Report [paragraph 4.3] I identified that the 

Welsh Government had not actually obtained a copy of the contract.  

13. In my Report, I identified that the Welsh Government’s submission to the Minister did 

not mention FTR [paragraph 4.2]. In its response to Question 9, the Welsh 

Government has stated that submissions to ministers for approval do not normally 

detail all eligible expenditure. The response to Question 8 notes that improvements to 

its scrutiny processes should ensure that exceptional items will now be highlighted 

within a grant application, and that the Welsh Government expects that an item such 

as FTR would now be reported to the relevant minister. I believe it is important that the 

officials preparing such submissions should take responsibility for identifying any 

exceptional items, and not simply rely on the scrutiny process to highlight them 

14. The Welsh Government’s response to Question 4 is unclear as to whether officials 

took the decision to approve PDG for the FTR acquisition before or after the Minister’s 

decision to award the grant. It states ‘The decision to provide funding was taken at an 
early stage’, but two paragraphs later appears to contradict this with ‘…officials agreed 
during the negotiation of the award letter, that the purchase was a key component…’   

15. The Welsh Government’s response to Question 8 indicates that officials still enjoy 

considerable discretion when preparing award letters, following the minister’s 

decision. There appears to be a risk that, in exercising this discretion, officials could 

potentially undermine the effectiveness of scrutiny prior to the minister’s decision.  

16. Question 10 focused on documentation and record keeping, an issue that has 

concerned the Committee on several previous occasions. The Welsh Government’s 

response, that in effect officials were too busy to maintain proper records, obviously 

has potentially wider and worrying implications for the Department’s conduct of public 

business. 

Further questions in response to oral evidence 

17. In Question 11, the Committee asked about the Welsh Government’s provision of 

loan guarantees. I will be considering the extent to which guarantees are requested, 

declined or provided as part of my wider review of business finance support.  

18. Question 12 sought clarification that arrangements to provide an appropriate 

separation of duties are operating as intended [see also my Report paragraphs 3.38 – 

Pack Page 42



Page 6 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

3.41]. I note that, on the basis that the official’s Email, quoted by the Welsh 

Government in its response, constituted a recommendation rather than an instruction 

to make payment, the Deputy Permanent Secretary is content that an appropriate 

separation of duties was maintained. 

19. Question 13 concerned a returnable £100,000 deposit held in suspension, payable or 

repayable depending upon whether a conditional land sale transaction was 

completed. Whilst the sum was certainly ‘eligible expenditure’ under the terms of the 

grant, I concluded [Report, paragraphs 3.38 – 3.40] that, although paid by HoVDC into 

an escrow account, it should not have been claimable until actually paid over to the 

seller at completion. This would have avoided the situation whereby a claim for a 

repayable deposit is paid by the Welsh Government and then the deposit is returned, 

resulting in a net financial gain to the claimant. I am surprised that the Welsh 

Government is apparently content to continue to approve payment of claims for 

returnable deposits without first ensuring that if the transaction to which the deposit 

relates is not subsequently completed, then either:  

• the deposit is returned directly to the Welsh Government and not to the 

claimant; or 

• the amount claimed is repaid to the Welsh Government by the claimant.  

20. Question 19 asked why the Welsh Government had disputed the number of related 

companies or individuals who had received payments under the grant or loan 

guarantee arrangements stated in my Report [paragraphs 3.22 – 3.25], even though 

this had been fact checked with Michael Carrick by my study team and he had not 

challenged the information himself.  

21. The Welsh Government’s response states ‘We would not necessarily consider 
directors or shareholders of related companies as having the ability to influence the 
company being funded in the normal course of business and so would not look at 
them, focusing only on those individuals with direct means to influence.’  This misses 

the essential point raised in my Report.  This was not that the companies or 

individuals were necessarily able to influence HoVDC overall, but rather that they 

were related party suppliers and that therefore the Welsh Government should have 

taken appropriate steps to ensure value for money before approving payments to 

them.  

22. The Welsh Government states ‘Any [related] companies used as suppliers must 
provide their services on an arms-length basis and be able to demonstrate value for 
money.’ However, I note that the Welsh Government did not ensure that this was the 

case in relation to its funding support for the CoW project. Having reviewed the written 

response carefully, I remain concerned that the Welsh Government: 

• Excludes first and then considers by exception. Good practice is to consider first 

and exclude afterwards; 

• Would seemingly exclude from its consideration companies such as Kalergo 

Ltd, which received monthly retainer payments under the Welsh Government’s 

Pack Page 43



Page 7 of 7 - The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project - Please contact us in 

Welsh or English / Cysylltwch â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

loan guarantee arrangement totalling nearly £97,000, against invoices that did 

not detail costs and services, whose sole officer and shareholder is also 

Aventa’s Chief Finance Officer; and  

• Was unaware of many of the relationships that I had identified during my audit 

fieldwork until being alerted to them by my study team. 

23. Question 20 related to the amount that would be ‘at risk’ if the CoW project did not 

proceed. In oral evidence to PAC the Additional Accounting Officer quoted a figure of 

£55 million at risk, including Welsh Government exposure of about £9.2 million. I note 

that the Welsh Government did not undertake detailed validation of the figure, which 

was provided to them by HoVDC, but also that it did not apparently feature in the 

submission provided to the Cabinet to inform its June 2017 decision on whether or not 

to provide further support to the Project.   

24. Question 23 asked about HM Treasury’s accounting classification of CoW debt if the 

Project went ahead. The Welsh Government’s response focuses on discussions about 

risk but does not address directly one key element of the Committee’s question, which 

asked when the actual accounting problem was first identified. 

Responses to Questions raised by the Committee Clerk in June 2017 

25. In response to the Clerk’s second question, the Welsh Government has stated that 

the minimum standards developed by the Welsh Government’s Grants Centre of 

Excellence ‘…would have been utilised in respect of the recent application from the 
Circuit of Wales’. I note that the Welsh Government has not provided the Committee 

with any assurance that the Welsh Government applied these standards in relation to 

their initial funding for the CoW project, which was the subject of my Report. 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 44



 

Concise Minutes - Public Accounts Committee 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 4 - Tŷ Hywel 

Meeting date: Monday, 27 November 

2017 

Meeting time: 14.01 - 16.44

This meeting can be viewed  

on Senedd TV at: 

http://senedd.tv/en/4355 

 
------ 

Attendance 

Category Names 

Assembly Members: 

Nick Ramsay AM (Chair) 

Mohammad Asghar (Oscar) AM 

Neil Hamilton AM 

Vikki Howells AM 

Rhianon Passmore AM 

Adam Price AM 

Witnesses: 

Naomi Alleyne, Welsh Local Government Association 

Angela Lee, Gwent Regional Collaborative Committee 

Sam Lewis, Gwent Regional Collaborative Committee 

Nigel Stannard, Newport City Council 

Elke Winton, Torfaen County Borough Council 

Wales Audit Office: 
Huw Vaughan Thomas – Auditor General for Wales 

Matthew Mortlock 

Committee Staff: 

Fay Bowen (Clerk) 

Meriel Singleton (Second Clerk) 

Katie Wyatt (Legal Adviser) 

Pack Page 46

Agenda Item 3

http://senedd.tv/
http://senedd.tv/en/4355


 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of interest  

1.1 The Chair welcomed the Members to the meeting. 

1.2 Apologies were received from Lee Waters AM. There was no substitute. 

2 Paper(s) to note  

2.1 The papers were noted.  

2.2 On the challenges of digitalisation, Members were in agreement that the Chair 

writes to the Chair of the Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee enclosing a 

copy of the Permanent Secretary’s letter and a recommendation that the Committee 

explores this further with the Minister. Members also agreed to hold an introductory 

session with the newly appointed Director General’s at the Welsh Government in the 

New Year. 

2.1 Scrutiny of Accounts 2016-17: Additional information from Sport Wales (14 

November 2017)  

2.2 Scrutiny of Accounts 2016-17: Additional information from Arts Council for Wales 

(17 November 2017)  

2.3 Scrutiny of Accounts 2016-17: Additional information from the National Library of 

Wales (20 November 2017)  

2.4 Challenges of Digitalisation: Additional information from the Welsh Government 

(17 November 2017)  

2.5 Appointment of Director General's in the Welsh Government: Letter from the 

Permanent Secretary, Welsh Government (21 November 2017)  

3 Cardiff Airport: Update from the Welsh Government  

3.1 Members noted the update and agreed to write to the Welsh Government 

highlighting concerns about the length of time taken to appoint an external board 

Member to Holdco and requesting an explanation about why it has taken so long. 

Pack Page 47



4 The Welsh Government’s Supporting People Programme: Evidence 

Session 2  

4.1 The Committee received evidence from Naomi Alleyne, Director, Social Services and 

Housing, Welsh Local Government Association; Elke Winton, Group Manager Housing, 

Torfaen County Borough Council; and Nigel Stannard, Supporting People Programme 

Manager, Newport City Council (and Chair of the Supporting People Information 

Network) as part of its inquiry into The Welsh Government’s Supporting People 

Programme. 

5 The Welsh Government’s Supporting People Programme: Evidence 

Session 3  

5.1 The Committee received evidence from Sam Lewis, Vice Chair, Gwent Regional 

Collaborative Committee and Angela Lee, Regional Development Coordinator, Gwent 

Regional Collaborative Committee as part of its inquiry into The Welsh Government’s 

Supporting People Programme. 

5.2 The Committee agreed to request a breakdown of the administrative costs 

associated with Supporting People and the other grants being considered within the 

Flexible funding project from the Welsh Government. 

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the meeting for the following business:  

6.1 The motion was agreed. 

7 The Welsh Government’s Supporting People Programme: 

Consideration of evidence received  

7.1 Members considered the evidence received. 

8 Forward Work Programme Spring 2018  

8.1 Members noted the forward work programme for the spring 2018 term. 

Pack Page 48



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 49

Agenda Item 4By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 

Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol/ 

Prif Weithredwr GIG Cymru 
Grŵp Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
 
Director General Health and Social Services/ 
NHS Wales Chief Executive 
Health and Social Services Group 
 

 

 

 

Parc Cathays ● Cathays Park 
Caerdydd ● Cardiff 

CF10 3NQ  

 

Ffôn  ● Tel 02920 801182/1144 

Andrew.Goodall@wales.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Gwefan ● website: www.wales.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
Nick Ramsay AM 
Chair 
Public Accounts Committee  

Our Ref: AG/MS/JW/JM 
 

 21 November 2017 
 
Dear Mr Ramsay 
 
Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition 
 
Further to your letter dated 16 October 2017 and your invitation to attend committee on  
4 December 2017, I wish to provide the committee with a response addressing the concerns 
raised, which I hope will be helpful in advance of my attendance. 
 
Firstly, I would like to reassure PAC members that all of the issues and recommendations 
raised are regarded as serious and represent an opportunity for improvement across our 
system.  There will always be a need for any recommended area of activity to be balanced 
with the range of responsibilities discharged by the NHS and the available resources in 
place to implement them.  As an example, many of the ICT systems in implementation 
across Wales will represent for any organisation one of the most significant local change 
programmes they are taking forward; this becomes even more complex when implementing 
this consistently across Wales.  Our emphasis and priority will inevitably always be on 
national clinical systems that support both staff and patients in providing clinical care and 
treatment. Examples of these systems would include: Patient Management System 
(Myrddin) rollout across Wales, the national clinical portal, GP systems, WCCIS (as national 
social care and community system), RADIS (national radiology system), Emergency 
Department systems and LIMS (national laboratory system).  Whilst respecting 
recommendations, there will be a need to align and choose priorities within available 
resources.   
 
Following the Public Accounts Committee meeting in October 2016, two recommendations 
have been completed: 
 

 With reference to recommendation 8, a directive was issued and I can confirm that all 
health boards and trusts have identified a non executive director lead linked to an 
executive officer. 

 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus l Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(5)-31-17 P4

Pack Page 60

mailto:Simon.Dean@wales.gsi.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/AustinS2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/F7ITCOFE/www.wales.gov.uk


 With reference to recommendation 10, I can also confirm that a Welsh Health 
Circular was issued to health boards and Velindre NHS Trust in May 2017 revising 
the target for food waste from 10% to 5%. This acknowledges good progress made 
on wastage, as reflected by the WAO report, but reflects the importance of setting a 
revised target for improvement. 

 
Standardisation of Nursing documentation 
 
I am concerned that through our previous evidence and responses, the development of 
electronic systems that would support nurses has perhaps over-focused on the role of a 
single individual working in NWIS. Many of the national clinical systems I have referred to 
above, provide support for all clinical teams, including nursing, to undertake their clinical 
activities and have access to electronic clinical records.  While the work continues towards a 
single electronic nursing record that can capture the breadth of nursing documentation 
used, nurses and other staff use electronic systems in a range of ways in their daily work.  
 
As examples of this: 
 

 All patients’ pathology and X ray results are now delivered and viewed electronically 
enabling quicker communication of results to clinical staff caring for and treating 
patients. 

 Patients requiring blood glucose monitoring have their blood analysed and reported 
using an electronic system enabling rapid delivery of results. 

 Hospitals provide electronic discharge letters to GPs when patients are discharged 
from hospital to community. 

 The Health and Care Standards Monitoring System is electronic and captures the 
results of fundamentals of care audits facilitated by nursing teams.  

 Patient flow records are electronic enabling knowledge of how many patients are in 
particular clinical environments (e.g. A&E) and how long individuals wait in particular 
areas. 

 Patient feedback is increasingly enabled through technology such as iPads in clinical 
areas and wards or web-based surveys. 

 An electronic ‘acuity tool’ is used to assess the number of nurses required to care for 
patients in line with the Nurse Staffing Levels Act.  

 GPs use electronic patient records to record all the care and treatment provided to 
patients and primary care systems are used by all clinical practice staff. 

 Some district nurses use iPads to record the care of patients in their own homes and 
the implementation of WCCIS as the national system for community services will 
provide an agreed national template that supports Health Visitor and District Nursing 
duties. 

 Other developments are taking place which focusing on nursing records: ABMUHB 
are piloting an electronic nurse record in one adult elective surgical ward. This 
system was built in house.  BCUHB have procured an electronic nurse record and is 
using this in children’s ward settings. Both have broader applications as a minimum 
locally. 
 

With reference to recommendation 4, the nurse informaticist at NWIS has completed 
extensive engagement over the past 12 months with staff from health boards and trusts 
across Wales and with specific groups to identify the types of nursing documentation 
currently being utilised and to gather high level requirements for a digital solution. Feedback 

Pack Page 61



from all the above contributed to the development of a specification for the all Wales 
electronic document with 29 identified requirements. 
 
Despite the broader use of systems outlined above, all Health Boards were found to be 
utilising paper documentation with identified variations of the national nursing and core data 
sets.  Visits identified that there were two digital documentation solutions currently being 
piloted, one at Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (ABMU) and another in 
Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCU). The mapping included feedback from staff 
in the health boards that are using digital documents. 
 
The Welsh Government Efficiency Through Technology Fund (ETTF) provided funds for the 
development of eForms with nursing documentation as the priority including an 
understanding of impact on professional practice.  The translation of all nurse 
documentation to electronic processes is a major process for any system, requiring a 
balance between technical solutions and professional assessment and remains an area of 
work across the UK.   
 
Nurse Directors confirmed the specification for the all Wales electronic document with 29 
identified requirements 22nd September 2017.  Now that the requirements have been 
agreed a Project Board and Operational group has been established.  This includes  Welsh 
Government representation on the Project Board and progress will be monitored by officials. 
 
As a specific response to recommendation 3, I can confirm that issues in respect of cultural, 
religious and dietary needs are included as part of the nursing e-documents work. 
 
Workforce planning issues 
 
With reference to recommendation 5, NWIS has been addressing the workforce planning 
issues raised by the Public Accounts Committee. A workforce plan has been developed, set 
out in the NWIS 3 year plan, which aims to address the difficulties recruiting to specialist 
technical roles in a competitive recruitment area.  Therefore, retaining the knowledge and 
expertise of existing staff has become an important factor in NHS Wales; particularly in the 
Informatics Service as health informatics staff have specialist technical skills which are 
desirable to other public and private sector organisations.  A number of workforce strategies 
are in development including the development of a flexible working toolkit, workshops for 
staff and continuous review of existing flexible working practices and advising managers on 
flexible options, development of a recruitment strategy and an increase in apprenticeships 
and graduate interns. There are also significant ICT specialist staff employed directly by 
Health Boards and Trusts across Wales, who support local infrastructure, developments 
and roll-out of national programmes also. 
 
IT catering solution  
 
Whilst the introduction of an all-Wales IT catering solution across NHS Wales could deliver 
some benefits, the decision to assign both funding and resources to this programme must 
be considered within the wider context of digitalisation across all health and social care 
services; this includes the development and rollout of key clinical systems, and the pressure 
to deliver improvements in those committed areas.  There are many calls on the limited 
capital and revenue budgets available which are focussed on delivering national clinical 
systems. It is also essential that we deliver the value for money of such a solution, 

Pack Page 62



particularly in light of the fact that significant progress has already been made against the 
WAO recommendations, for example in relation to reducing food wastage.  At the time of 
the original recommendations, a system was seen as a solution to support this outcome, but 
progress has been made without needing a national system in place. 
 
The business case was considered and reviewed at NIMB in January and March this year, 
following which Aneurin Bevan University Health Board were tasked to lead a process to 
review the business case in consultation with key stakeholders including the All Wales 
Estates & Facilities Directors, the All Wales Commodity Advisory Group, the All Wales 
Caterers group as well as Dieticians, Procurement, Finance and IT professionals.  My 
judgement was the case was not good enough to compete with other national clinical 
systems being considered within limited funding allocated to NWIS and therefore its broader 
benefits, and potential to be self-funding, needed to be clear. Any process will need 
therefore to ensure that the financial benefits are properly delivered as this will be the future 
funding source for the system. 
 
As a result of this necessary work I can confirm, as outlined in the update provided to the 
Public Accounts Committee in September, that NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership 
has been working with NWIS, health boards and trusts to make a  national IT catering 
system available across all Wales.  This system is being developed through next year, to 
allow each health board and trust to align any investment in an improved IT system to their 
broader catering service improvement plans. 
 
My personal preference had been, whilst ensuring compliance with procurement criteria, to 
see if there was the option to extend an existing system out to other health boards; 
unfortunately, advice is clear that a new procurement process is required.  Therefore, 
shared services will continue with the specification and procurement process nationally to 
allow Health Boards and Trusts to take up the new system.   
 
Additional updates 
 
In response to recommendations 1 and 2, I can confirm that the all Wales nutrition and 
catering forum and the all Wales menu framework group discussed patient feedback.  
Feedback is already used locally for improvement within health boards.  As a result, they 
are working with the all Wales menu framework group to set out and share common themes 
across Wales.   
 
With reference to recommendation 7 regarding the blend of e-learning and face to face 
learning, this was the subject of debate at the NHS Wales Digital Learning Conference in 
September 2017. As a result, health organisations have been examining the delivery of 
nutrition learning and identifying the e-learning and face to face learning components. It is 
felt that nutrition learning should be provided in both electronic and face to formats in order 
to facilitate different individual learning styles and preferences for learning approaches.  
 
At the November 2017 all Wales nutrition/catering meeting, members debated the 
identification of compulsory learning referenced in recommendation 6.  Each health 
organisation is currently examining its requirement for compulsory learning in relation to 
nutrition and next steps will be agreed at the January 2018 all wales nutrition/catering 
forum.  

Pack Page 63



Your letter also referred to the timescale for implementation of the electronic prescribing 
system.  Welsh Government has recently received an Outline Business Case (OBC) for 
Welsh Hospital Electronic Prescribing, Pharmacy and Medicines Administration 
(WHEPPMA). This would require a significant level of national funding, not yet available or 
allocated, to deliver a consistent system across Wales. The initial case estimates the cost of 
the preferred option as £36.5m over the seven-year contract period. This OBC is currently 
being reviewed by senior officials and other experts from within the NHS.  The outcome of 
this review will determine the next steps and timetable but, if agreed, this would represent a 
major ICT programme and require a clear allocation of funding. In order to support the 
national case, a decision has already been made to establish a hospital electronic 
prescribing and medicines administration (HEPMA) pathfinder project in ABMU Health 
Board, funded by all-Wales capital.  The project will provide significant learning for national 
HEPMA programme, ensuring the specification for the national solution meets service 
requirements and represents an agreed initial phase to the implementation of this system, 
now supported by national project arrangements.   
 
I hope this letter supports your discussions in advance of my attendance. I look forward to 
further discussions with the committee on 4 December. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Dr Andrew Goodall 

Pack Page 64


	Agenda
	1 The Welsh Government's initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project: Correspondence with the Welsh Government
	PAC(5)-31-17 P2 - Letter from WG on Circuit of Wales (17 November)
	PAC(5)-31-17 P3 - Previous correspondence considered at the meeting on 2 October 2017
	PAC(5)-24-17 P6 -  Letter from the Chair to the WG.pdf
	PAC(5)-24-17 P7 - Letter from the WG to the Chair
	tmpFile396307776176080681.doc

	PAC(5)-24-17 P8- Letter from the AGW to the Chair
	Mr Nick Ramsay AM
	Chair of the Public Accounts Committee
	National Assembly for Wales
	Cardiff Bay
	Cardiff  CF99 1NA
	The Welsh Government’s initial funding of the Circuit of Wales project
	Enclosed:
	Annex - Circuit of Wales Project: the Auditor General’s observations on the Welsh Government’s   written evidence to the Committee
	Circuit of Wales Project: the Auditor General’s observations on the Welsh Government’s written evidence to the Committee
	Overall value for money
	1. In response to Question 1, the Deputy Permanent Secretary has restated his belief that the Welsh Government achieved value for money from the £9.3 million of initial support it provided to the Circuit of Wales (CoW) project, notwithstanding its dec...
	2. The Committee questioned the extent of Welsh Government scrutiny and challenge of payments made to HoVDC’s suppliers on the basis of monthly retainers and requested evidence of value for money (Question 2). The Welsh Government response states: ‘Al...
	3. The Welsh Government goes on to list services which it says HoVDC has told them were covered by the monthly retainer of £42,000 paid to Aventa [a company contracted by HoVDC to raise private investment funds for the CoW project, wholly owned by HoV...
	4. In my report, I concluded that the Welsh Government had permitted payments without sufficient evidence that the services provided to the CoW project represented good value for public money [see paragraph 15]. The Welsh Government states that offici...
	The acquisition of FTR
	5. The Committee asked the Welsh Government for clarification and evidence relating to:
	6. I acknowledge that the Deputy Permanent Secretary has changed his view from that which he expressed at PAC in June; and that he now accepts that the FTR acquisition does not represent value for public money. However, in my view the Welsh Government...
	7. The Welsh Government’s explanation to the Committee of why it did this hinges upon investor confidence in the initial circuit construction project being supported by FTR’s relocation to a technology business park, in turn encouraging other motorspo...
	9. The Welsh Government’s explanation might therefore provide some degree of justification for relocation support to FTR at a future point, assuming completion and successful operation of the race circuit and then subsequent development of a business ...
	10. The Welsh Government has suggested to the Committee that delaying FTR’s acquisition would have weakened the business case for private investment and that its inclusion within phase 1 indicated ‘interest and a level of commitment’ to the circuit an...
	11. The Welsh Government has also asserted that the rationale for the FTR acquisition had been ‘verbally questioned’ by officials and has accepted that PDG support for the transaction should have been subject to greater scrutiny before approval was gr...
	12. The Deputy Permanent Secretary has acknowledged in his response to Question 8 that officials should have reviewed the FTR acquisition contract, but also that he is unable to confirm that this took place. In my Report [paragraph 4.3] I identified t...
	13. In my Report, I identified that the Welsh Government’s submission to the Minister did not mention FTR [paragraph 4.2]. In its response to Question 9, the Welsh Government has stated that submissions to ministers for approval do not normally detail...
	14. The Welsh Government’s response to Question 4 is unclear as to whether officials took the decision to approve PDG for the FTR acquisition before or after the Minister’s decision to award the grant. It states ‘The decision to provide funding was ta...
	15. The Welsh Government’s response to Question 8 indicates that officials still enjoy considerable discretion when preparing award letters, following the minister’s decision. There appears to be a risk that, in exercising this discretion, officials c...
	16. Question 10 focused on documentation and record keeping, an issue that has concerned the Committee on several previous occasions. The Welsh Government’s response, that in effect officials were too busy to maintain proper records, obviously has pot...
	Further questions in response to oral evidence
	17. In Question 11, the Committee asked about the Welsh Government’s provision of loan guarantees. I will be considering the extent to which guarantees are requested, declined or provided as part of my wider review of business finance support.
	18. Question 12 sought clarification that arrangements to provide an appropriate separation of duties are operating as intended [see also my Report paragraphs 3.38 – 3.41]. I note that, on the basis that the official’s Email, quoted by the Welsh Gover...
	19. Question 13 concerned a returnable £100,000 deposit held in suspension, payable or repayable depending upon whether a conditional land sale transaction was completed. Whilst the sum was certainly ‘eligible expenditure’ under the terms of the grant...
	20. Question 19 asked why the Welsh Government had disputed the number of related companies or individuals who had received payments under the grant or loan guarantee arrangements stated in my Report [paragraphs 3.22 – 3.25], even though this had been...
	21. The Welsh Government’s response states ‘We would not necessarily consider directors or shareholders of related companies as having the ability to influence the company being funded in the normal course of business and so would not look at them, fo...
	22. The Welsh Government states ‘Any [related] companies used as suppliers must provide their services on an arms-length basis and be able to demonstrate value for money.’ However, I note that the Welsh Government did not ensure that this was the case...
	23. Question 20 related to the amount that would be ‘at risk’ if the CoW project did not proceed. In oral evidence to PAC the Additional Accounting Officer quoted a figure of £55 million at risk, including Welsh Government exposure of about £9.2 milli...
	24. Question 23 asked about HM Treasury’s accounting classification of CoW debt if the Project went ahead. The Welsh Government’s response focuses on discussions about risk but does not address directly one key element of the Committee’s question, whi...
	Responses to Questions raised by the Committee Clerk in June 2017
	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	5.
	6.
	7.
	8.
	9.
	10.
	11.
	12.
	13.
	14.
	15.
	16.
	17.
	18.
	19.
	20.
	21.
	22.
	23.
	24.
	25. In response to the Clerk’s second question, the Welsh Government has stated that the minimum standards developed by the Welsh Government’s Grants Centre of Excellence ‘…would have been utilised in respect of the recent application from the Circuit...




	3 Paper(s) to note
	4 Hospital Catering and Patient Nutrition: Evidence Session with the Welsh Government
	PAC(5)-31-17 P4 - Letter from WG on Hospital Catering (21 November)




